

A Service of

ZBW

Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Breitschopf, Barbara; Lotz, Meta Thurid; Marscheider-Weidemann, Frank

Working Paper Price pass-through of CO₂ costs

Working Paper Sustainability and Innovation, No. S02/2024

Provided in Cooperation with: Fraunhofer Institute for Systems and Innovation Research ISI

Suggested Citation: Breitschopf, Barbara; Lotz, Meta Thurid; Marscheider-Weidemann, Frank (2024) : Price pass-through of CO₂ costs, Working Paper Sustainability and Innovation, No. S02/2024, Fraunhofer-Institut für System- und Innovationsforschung ISI, Karlsruhe, https://doi.org/10.24406/publica-2695

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/300575

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU





Price pass-through of CO₂ costs

Authors:

Barbara Breitschopf, Meta Thurid Lotz, Frank Marscheider-Weidemann

No. S02/2024

Imprint

Price pass-through of CO₂ costs

Authors

Barbara Breitschopf, barbara.breitschopf@isi.fraunhofer.de; Fraunhofer Institute for Systems and Innovation Research ISI

Meta Thurid Lotz, meta.thurid.lotz@isi.fraunhofer.de; Fraunhofer Institute for Systems and Innovation Research ISI

Frank Marscheider-Weidemann, frank.marscheider-weidemann@isi.fraunhofer.de; Fraunhofer Institute for Systems and Innovation Research ISI

Picture credits

Cover page: Shutterstock.com/TechSolution

Recommended citation

Breitschopf, B.; Lotz, M. T.; Marscheider-Weidemann, F. (2024): Price pass-through of CO₂ costs. Karlsruhe: Fraunhofer Institute for Systems and Innovation Research ISI. DOI: 10.24406/publica-2695.

Published

July 2024

Contact.

Fraunhofer Institute for Systems und Innovation Research ISI

Breslauer Strasse 48, 76139 Karlsruhe, Germany Barbara Breitschopf, barbara.breitschopf@isi.fraunhofer.de

Disclaimer

This report has been produced within a research project financed under the German "Ressortforschungsplan" (FKZ 3718420040), commissioned by the German Federal Environmental Agency (UBA) on behalf of the Federal Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate Action (BMWK). Any information and views set out in this report are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the official opinion of the UBA or any national or European authority. This report in its entirety is protected by copyright. The information contained was compiled to the best of the authors' knowledge and belief in accordance with the principles of good scientific practice. The authors believe that the information in this report is correct, complete and current, but accept no liability for any errors, explicit or implicit.

Abstract

The price pass-through of CO₂ costs was analysed for HRC and PE/PP products as parts of a BEV. It was revealed that the feasibility of transferring these costs hinges on a company's ability to dictate prices, either as a significant player in international markets or through bilateral agreements. While the data and information gathered shed light on the complexity of business relationships and markets, it unequivocally demonstrates that the question of price pass-through is far from being answered straightforward. Low transparency about various business relations and markets, lack of information on specific production volumes, inputs, and current cost and pricing data were identified as critical hindrances to assessing the pass-through of prices, despite the existence of scientific concepts. Within the industry, a few companies may possess a strong foothold in the global market and be equipped to navigate elevated costs without external intervention, whereas others may lack the means to offset cost increases due to CO₂ prices. Policymakers are thus faced with the challenge of formulating targeted policies for less competitive companies and industries expected to lose market shares due to CO₂ pricing, while refraining from interfering with those capable of robust market competition. In essence, the domestic imposition of CO₂ pricing poses a significant threat to the price competitiveness of the domestic carbon-intensive industry. A welldesigned CBAM is imperative, yet its effectiveness on global prices also hinges on whether global producers are subject to CO_2 emission costs. Should global producers remain unaffected by such expenses, many European producers are likely to encounter a general cost disadvantage when exporting to the international market.

Keywords: competitiveness, CO₂ prices, chemical and steal industry

Contents

1	Introduction	5
2	Approach	7
2.1	Competition	7
2.2	Market structure - supplier side	9
2.3	Environment of business	10
2.4	Product features and other aspects	11
3	Results	13
3.1	Hot rolled coil	13
3.2	Polyethylene (PE) and polypropylene (PP)	29
3.3	Automobile sector	49
4	Discussion and summary	52
4.1	Hot rolled coil	53
4.2	Polyethylene/polypropylene	56
5	Conclusions	59
6	List of references	62
7	List of figures	75
8	List of tables	76

1 Introduction

In the light of the decarbonisation of our economy and the tightening availability of emission allowances within the ETS, pressure to decarbonise the energy- and carbon-intensive industry is rising. Turning the production and consumption of CO2-intensive goods into a material-efficient and circular economy contributes significantly to the objective of a CO₂-neutral economy, as set out in the long-term vision proposed by the European Commission. However, also concerns arise regarding the competitiveness of affected industries, their profitability and their potential to pass through higher costs resulting from increasing CO₂ prices to their customers, be it business-tobusiness or business to final consumer. This study focuses on steel, aluminium, chemical and refinery products that are covered by the EU emission trading system. Further, within this study, the CO₂ emissions and cost shares of different intermediate products along the value chains have been assessed for automobiles (both with internal combustion and electric) and the plastic products polyethylene (PE) and polypropylene (PP). Regarding the mass fractions, steel accounts for 45%, aluminium for 17% and plastics for 12% of the total energy input (see section 3). The share of CO2 emissions is 43% for steel, 22% for plastics, 10% for graphite and 6% for aluminium (see section 3). Given these shares and previous results of chapter 2 and 3, this analysis looks at steel and plastic products used in a BEV (electric car with battery). Within the metals needed for a BEV, hot rolled coil (HRC) plays a significant role, while within the plastic products polyethylene (PE) and polypropylene (PP) are important materials and included in relevant components of an automobile.





Source: UBA (2024), adjusted

Hot rolled coil is a flat steel product and has the largest volume share (of 54% in the EU in 2015) within this steel category (see UBA (2024)). Within this study, based on a general data compilation conducted and outlined in chapter 2, the assumption has been made that flat steel products can be assigned largely to the primary steel production route in the blast furnace (BF/BOF). This production route is significantly more energy- and emission-intensive than the secondary (predominantly scrap-based) production route in the electric arc furnace (EAF) that is used primarily in long steel products. Not considered in this study, but potentially relevant in the future, is the use of direct reduced iron (DRI) instead of scrap in the EAF, which could substitute for the primary production route in the future. Hot rolled coil can be used directly or can be further processed (e.g. cold rolling, galvanising and/or coating). The main demand for this product can be assigned to

constructions and vehicles. In this report, we focus on the use of HRC in the production of an electric passenger car (BEV).

A large share of hot rolled coil is stamped at the manufacturer's site and a small share is also stamped for assembled components. The main application is the structure of the vehicle body (preassembly), which represents about 85% of the HRC material share in a BEV. Moreover, HRC is also used for doors, wheels and related components, dampers within the engine and gearbox as well as for the seats (VDI 10/2021, Automobil-Produktion 05/2021, Automobil-Industrie 11/2021).

Also polyethylene (PE) und polypropylene (PP) are products whose production processes are covered by the EU-ETS in the chemical industry. The precursor's ethylene and propylene are usually based on naphtha or other organic compounds from refineries that are transformed into steam-crackers (see our reports 2 and 3). The PE or PP polymers usually reach the processor in the form of plastic pellets, where they are mixed with additives (pigments, UV stabilisers, etc.) and transformed into products by plastic processing methods such as extrusion (continuous) or injection moulding (discontinuous). The energy requirement for plastics processing is significantly lower than that for the production of ethylene/propylene in the steam cracker in the upstream chain (approx. 3 MJ vs. 16.5 MJ/kg). Due to the EU plastic products of the primary route as described here will become less needed. To what extent the use of recycled products is even feasible with high quality or safety-relevant products, such as e.g. bumpers in automobiles, is still unclear.

This report analyses the potential of CO₂-cost pass-through for hot rolled coil and PE/PP and their final cost share in BEV. The overarching objective is to contribute to a better understanding of potential price pass-through at this product level. Due to missing data on the actors, their shares along the value chain, and the specific quality requirements of intermediary products between PE/PP und HRC, the focus of this study is on the market of HRC and PE/PP products, and not on further intermediary markets.

This chapter first outlines the methodological approach, then analyses and outlines the market situation of HRC as well as for PE and PP products and of the BEV market. In the last sub-chapter, the potential of CO_2 cost pass-through for HRC as well as PE and PP products is assessed and conclusions are drawn.

2 Approach

In a competitive and well-functioning market, prices are the result of supply and demand. In case of an elastic demand for a certain product, any changes in prices might result in significant changes of the demanded quantity, while under an inelastic price-demand relation, the demanded quantity hardly changes. However, this is a theoretical situation, as such market outcome is only feasible under a situation in which all suppliers act in a similar way and the market is closed, i.e. no other suppliers have access to the market. Under competition and a global market, a few suppliers may be able to offer products at lower prices and thus push the more expensive suppliers out of the market. Therefore, the ability to pass through costs or prices to customers is discussed under the notion of competitiveness. Competitiveness could be referred to a country, a sector or company. For example, the OECD defines competitiveness as measure of a country's advantage or disadvantage in selling products in international markets (OECD statistic) while in business it is seen as the ability of a company to pre-empt the competitors in the same market. Further, another major differentiation is between the micro- and macroeconomic perspective (Delgado, Ketels, Porter, Stern 2012). Understanding of competitiveness at the macro-level refers to different aspects such as productivity or global sales. It is driven by ecological, social, distributional, technical indicators and capabilities and trust (Marginean 2006). For example, infrastructures (social, physical, financial), institutions (political, social, legal), resources (human, physical), policies (fiscal, monetary). In contrast, microeconomic aspects focus on certain characteristics of firms competing for market shares and profits under a given business environment. The characteristics include among others, strategies, organisation, structures, management, and of course the business environment, i.e. supply-chain, resource/input factors and demand conditions (Delgado, Ketels, Porter, Stern 2012). According to Porter (Porter, M.E., 2004), the competitiveness of a nation is founded on microeconomic factors, while conditions at the macro-level (political, legal, social, economic and institutional aspects) are necessary to ensure the enabling framework. Ongoing research examines the notion of competitiveness from a third perspective, the meso-level. It encompasses competitiveness of certain sectors that are affected by, for example, trade, regional resources, technical education and labour policies in the specific industrial areas. In general, in case of a competitive market, companies might face problems in passing through rising production costs. Analogous to competitiveness, the degree of competition in a market depends on its structure, size, number, and participants as well as the environment and context in which the company operates. These factors affect their ability to pass through costs while innovations could entail competitive advantages. Further, specific product features play also a role when rolling over costs.

Overall, development takes place at multi-levels that call for an understanding of the micro-mesomacro environment, as it reflects the interactions of actors with a subset of other agents of a system (Vlados, Chatzinikolaou, 2020). This broad understanding of competitiveness and factors shaping competition makes grasping and identifying key factors influencing the ability to pass-through costs very challenging. In the following, the main factors that affect the potential of rolling-over costs are outlined.

2.1 Competition

In business, two main types of competition are discussed, the price competition and quality competition. Recently, the concept of competition is extended by further aspects such as competition for social and ecological aspects (OECD 10/2013), which could be understood as quality competition in a broad sense. Under a pure price competition, cost advantages such as a high productivity or low input prices is key for succeeding in such the market; under international

competition transport costs play also a role (Zweifel, Heller 1997). In a very competitive market, in economic theory called perfect competition, the market price is equal to the minimum average of total costs (fixed and variable costs). For a short period, the price could even fall below this threshold as long as it still covers the variable average of total costs. However, according to economic theory, a price below the average total costs leads to bankruptcy and, hence, market exit, as investments are not covered in the long-term. Further, under a theoretically pure price competition, the product is strictly homogeneous, i.e. products display the same characteristics and are fully comparable.

In contrast, a key characteristic of a quality competition is the difference in characteristics between products, i.e. they are not homogenous. This means they differ in quality and/or time of availability for consumption and supply for production, and/or are linked to a service. From an extended perspective on the above-mentioned competition, quality characteristics could also be environmental-friendly and socially fair production. However, to have a quality competition, the number of customers with differing preferences has to be large. Under a quality competition, different prices of the "product" exist and cost increases can be easier passed through than under a price competition. The product variety at the market can be captured by the existence of a large variety in prices, resulting from different type of customers with different quality requirements of the product, in potentially small or niche markets. The focus is on the competitiveness of Germany's industries.

For the assessment of the type of competition we look at:

- the types of customers in the hot rolled coil and PP/PE market as they might display different requirements regarding the characteristics of the product
- the exposure to international markets could be captured by the share of exports to and imports from countries outside the EU; it reveals whether the sector is exposed to international markets, and hence international competition
- the general degree of homogeneity of the product with respect to its material requirements and linked services
- the intensity of competition is based on the theoretical assumption that under perfect competition the market price equals the minimum average of the total costs and the marginal costs. The closer price and total average costs are, the stronger is the competition.

Aspect	Description	Level	Indicator
Type of customers	Final consumer (B2C), producers or service providers (B2B), intermediate product within the integrated company (I)	Germany	Share of B2C, B2B, I
Exposure to global market	Share of EU external exports of German production(outside EU) Imports from outside the EU to domestic production or demand	Germany	% average value
Homogeneity	Existence of differentiating features of products (quality features)	Global, EU, Germany	Yes/no

Table 1: Indicators displaying competition

Aspect	Description	Level	Indicator
Intensity of competition	Perfect competition: price = minimum average costs = marginal costs	Germany	Market price per unit to average costs

2.2 Market structure - supplier side

The intensity of competition depends on the market structure; this means its number of participants (suppliers), their size, and degree of horizontal (Clarkson, Miller 1982) and vertical integration (Chandler 1994). Further, market entry barriers such as economies of scale or scope or limited access to resources are means to reduce competition in markets and signal, if they are effective, a weak competition (Gilbert 1989, Bain 1968). In contrast, market exit barriers such as sunk costs or social restriction signal a competitive market in which over-capacities might exist. To assess the intensity of competition Katzenbach (1967) discussed the dynamics in revenues, or sales, and adjustments. To assess the market structure, we focus on the market, i.e. we look at the market size, number of market participants, market shares, market entries and exits, while integration of production is considered under the section "business environment".

- The size of the market does not necessarily report on the degree of competition, but it allows concluding what the potential influence of single producers is. Therefore, we derive information about the market size through the existence of international and/or regional market prices. We assume that, if a global or a large regional market exists, competition is strong.
- The market share is a very direct indicator revealing the potential influence of an actor on the market, and hence, on the market price.
- A more direct proxy for competition among suppliers is the number of suppliers, which in combination with the market size and shares provides information on the degree of competition.
- Another proxy for a high competition are the activities regarding market exits and market entries, showing whether market barriers exist or not. If no market barriers exist, we assume a strong competition.
- Regarding the rivalry, proxies are the emergence of a new industry with a few players (not relevant for HRC, PE and PP), and whether the dynamics in sales, i.e. changes in sales or revenues are large. If there is a high volatility in prices, we assume a high rivalry, and hence, competition.

Aspect	Description	Level	Indicator
Market size	Existence of a global market price, regional market prices, (e.g. EU, USA, China,)	Global, EU, national, local	€/t
Market participants	Number of suppliers and their size	Global, EU	Numbers
Market share	Share of top 5 suppliers Share and rank of top 5 German suppliers	Global, national	% of top 5 (global) % ranks (Germany) % export (Germany to global trade)

Table 2: Market structure indicators - supplier side

Aspect	Description	Level	Indicator
	Export share of producers in Germany to total global market		
Market entry, market exit	Number of market entries and/or exists	Global or EU	Number per year (or each 2, 5 or 10 years)
Intensity of rivalry	New industry? Dynamics and changes of sales or revenues?	Global Germany	Yes/no, examples Sales (€) or production (t) over time

2.3 Environment of business

Porter (1990) elaborated a model to analyse the competition businesses are facing, He identified five main factors that determine how successful and competitive a business might be. This includes pressure through new competitors, the existence of substitutes of the supplied products, strategies and structures of businesses such as degree of integration (horizontal (Clarkson, Miller 1982) and vertical (Chandler 1994)), market power of suppliers and customers, and intensity of rivalry. To further qualitatively evaluate the extent of competition, we include the environment of a business, and look at the degree of integration along the value chain. The vertical integration has an impact on the business environment as it changes the customers or suppliers of a company. Further, we account for the existence of substitutes, structure of the sales market and changes in sales. Since Schumpeter (1997) explained the competitiveness of a business by its innovation activities, we include innovations. According to him, firms conduct research and product development to improve their competitiveness and offer products differing in quality and prices. This approach is helpful to analyse the competitiveness of R&D-intensive companies and identify whether companies deal with new and qualitative differing products or with well-established and not R&Dintensive products offered in a price competitive market. Further, innovations enable firms to earn a temporary "monopoly rent", i.e. a high price, as long as no other competitor is able to offer a comparable innovation. Thus, we look also at potential product developments.

- The integration of producing units along the value chain within one corporation allows to
 pass through prices changes to the end of the "internal" final-product. This is a strong
 integration of production stages. A weak integration could be given by a strong contractual
 relationship but not ownership of production units. Examples of a weak integration are longterm partnerships or contracts. To what degree price adjustments are feasible in long-term
 contracts, depends on the contract agreement. For instance, the product price could be based
 on a global product market price index or production price index like in electricity contracts.
- Substitutes allow to replace materials that become scarce or too expensive. They allow companies to adjust to high production costs through using substitutes. If substitutes exist for potential customers of the HRC, PP or PE producers, passing through of higher prices is not possible.
- Competition in a market is driven by the number of suppliers and demanders. Thus, we include the number and size of existing customers. Furthermore, beyond the existing customer-supplier relationship in the automotive industry, the potential of alternative customers outside the automotive industry could mitigate potential market power and concentration at the demand side.

- Product innovations encompass incremental changes in products or in some of its features as well as new products that completely replace the former. They contribute to the development of substitutes.
- Process innovations refer to changes in the production process and might even entail changes in the feature of products, potentially resulting in to new substitutes or differentiations in product features.

Aspect	Description	Level	Indicator
Integration	Type and degree of integration: producing unit is part of the internal value chain (vertically integrated in the corporation, I)? Long-term contracts (L)?	German companies	% of production/sales per type (I, L)
Substitutes	Potential substitution of product? Actual substitution Hypothetical substitution	Global	Yes/no Substitutes? Barriers (technical, economic)
Sales market	Number and size of customer? Alternative customers, that could demand the product if sales to automobile customers decline?	Global	Number of customers Yes/no; brief description
Product innovation	Small improvements of products, new products or destructive innovations?	German companies	Yes/no
Process innovation	Small improvements, or new processes	German companies	Yes/no

 Table 3:
 Indicators outlining the business environment

2.4 Product features and other aspects

Based on strategic management approaches (Latuffe 2010), we select further indicators at the product level such as cost shares, types, prices and price-driven demand. Theoretically, further product features such as reliable supply, timely availability and sustainability might strengthen the competitiveness in a quality competition, but data on these features are not available. The Cross Border Adjustment Mechanisms (CBAM) is considered here as well. It is to note that data and indicators are rather limited, since hot rolled coil and PPE/PE pellets are not final but intermediate products, cost shares: cost shares are supposed to reveal how significant the different inputs are, and how they compare to prices at different markets price and sales data over time ideally disclose how sensitive demand might react to price changes. Data could encompass production and market prices or import volumes and values transport costs indicate potential additional costs in case the product is traded at international markets, the higher they are, the more they reduce a potential margin (at a given market price) on the product, and the less other costs could be included CBAM: in the case the CBAM applies for imported products, the additional costs of CO₂ pricing is included and conditions for competition are adjusted. For exported goods, domestic producers are not yet compensated for additional costs due to CO₂ prices.

Aspect	Description	Level	Indicator
Cost shares	Cost share of CO_2 , of energy	EU, Germany	€/t
Price dependency of demand	How have demand and prices evolved over time? Spot market prices and contract or forward prices? Import values and quantities as proxy for prices and domestic demand	Global, EU, Germany	Development and correlation of prices (€) and sales (t)
Transport costs	Transport costs per unit and distance within and outside the EU	EU or Germany	€/t km
CBAM	Part of CBAM? In case CBAM fully compensates for CO ₂ costs, domestic suppliers face no disadvantage from CO ₂ on the EU market.	EU	Yes/no

 Table 4:
 Overview on product features

3 **Results**

In order to make it easier to understand the use of data and the conclusions, a table at the beginning of each indicator category provides a brief overview on the applied indicators, reference product, year, source, scope and conclusion with respect to its impact on the passing through of cost increases (- rather no-passing-through; + rather passing-through).

3.1 Hot rolled coil

Table 5 provides a brief overview on the classifications used in the subsequent section. The section provides data and qualitative information on the indicators outlined in section 2.

	Description	Products
C2410	Manufacture of basic iron and steel and of ferroalloys	Manufacture of iron, steel and products of first transformation
24103110	Flat-rolled products of iron or non-alloy steel, of a width > = 600 mm, simply hot-rolled, not clad, plated or coated, in coils	Hot rolled coil
24103130	Flat-rolled products of iron or non-alloy steel, of a width > = 600 mm, not in coils, simply hot-rolled, not clad, plated or coated, with patterns in relief directly due to the rolling process and products of a thickness < 4,75 mm, without patterns in relief (excluding rolled on four faces or in a cl	
24103150	Flat-rolled products, of iron or non-alloy steel, of a width $> = 600 \text{ mm}$ (excluding `wide flats¿), not in coils, simply hot-rolled, not clad, plated or coated, without patterns in relief; flat-rolled products of iron or steel, of a width $> = 600 \text{ mm}$, hot-rolled and further worked, but not clad, plated o	

 Table 5:
 Overview on used product classes - HRC

Source: Eurostat 2020b; Eurostat 2021

Competition

Aspect	IN	Level	Indicator	Findings	Passing- through
Variety of customers	1	Germany	Share of B2C, B2B, I	B2C: none C2C of HRC, sheet and strip (2016, WSA)): 80% (50%) direct use of HRC, sheet and strip in Germany (EU) 20% (50%) use for other products (EU) C2C of steel (2018, WV Stahl, Germany): 18.4% of steel direct to automotive 30.6% of steel to SSC/dealer C2C of strip mill products (2020, Eurofer, EU): 54.3% direct use of strip mill products, of which 40.7% for automotive 1: n.a.	Low variety: -
Exposure to global market	2	Germany	export as % of domestic production	Export, average 2008-2026: 4% Germany (hot rolled wide strip, hot rolled narrow strip, wide flats, lengths cuts from Eurofer to HRC sheet and strip from WSA) 5% EU (Prodcom 24103110/30/50 to HRC, sheet and strip from WSA)	existing exposure of about 4%: (-)
Homogeneity	3	Global, EU, Germany	Yes/no	Product differences by: production costs: HRC from BOF less expensive than from EAF (JRC 2020) Product quality: n.a. Services: n.a.	Limited product diversification: n.a.
Intensity of competition	4	Germany	Market price per unit to average total costs (AC)	Product prices (HRC, sheet, strip; Steel on the net, 05/2019-02/2020, €/t), also see UBA (2024): global average: 523 European average: 429 Asian average: 482 North America average: 612 Export values (Eurostat Prodcom 24103110/30/50, 2019): €575/t of Germany to global market €529/t of EU to global market Unit costs production of HRC, see UBA (2024) BOF: €458/t in Germany; €450-475/t in 2019, EU average (JRC 2020) EAF: €486/t in Germany; ca. €490/t in 2019, EU average (JRC 2020)	Rather P< AC: -

Table 6: Overview on indicators of competition in HRC

Source: WSA 2018; Eurofer 2022; WV Stahl, VDeH 2016; Steelonthenet 2020c; JRC 2020; Eurostat 2020b Note: n.a.: no assessment possible; IN: indicator number - low potential for passing through, + high potential for passing through

Demand for hot rolled coil comes mainly from the construction and automobile sector. In the automobile sector, it is used for the vehicle body but also for wheels, dampers, seats. Due to security aspects, applications of recycled steel from scrap is less likely. The largest share of hot rolled coil, sheet and strip are used directly. This has hardly changed over time (see Figure 2).



Figure 2: Production and use of hot rolled coil, Germany

Source: WSA 2018

Figure 3: Routes to the market



Source: Eurofer 2022

Regarding market routes, HRC takes several different routes to the market as depicted in Figure 3. It shows two main sources of steel –domestic and foreign – and potential distributors such as stockists, traders, and steel service centres that supply different industries. Data on the main routes are not available. Customers of steel products are production companies such as automobile sector, steel pipe industry, construction sector, and service providers such as steel traders. Therefore, for

hot rolled coil, a B2C market does not exist, as HRC is not a final product but needs further processing.

	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018
Steel pipe industry	13.3	13.2	12.1	12.6	13.2	12.7
Cold strip	6.7	6.8	6.5	5.0	5.9	5.9
Automotive and other vehicle construction	14.3	14.4	15.1	15.8	17.9	18.4
Distributor/ SSCs	30.4	28.8	28.9	28.7	32.1	30.6
Mechanical engineering (excl. electr. machinery)	2.2	1.7	1.8	1.7	2.3	1.7
Mechanical engineering - electr. machines	1.4	1.2	1.1	1.1	1.5	1.3
Forged, pressed, drawn & stamped parts	5.8	5.2	5.4	5.3	4.2	5.1
Wire and rod drawing factories	4.7	4.8	4.8	4.7	1.8	1.2
Metal products	3.2	3.2	3.2	3.5	2.6	2.9
Steel construction and building industry	12.3	11.4	12.5	13.6	12.5	11.6
Other customers	5.7	9.3	8.6	8.1	6.0	8.6

Table 7:	Deliveries of steel	products by	y industrial	customers,	Germany
----------	---------------------	-------------	--------------	------------	---------

*as of 2017 changed survey

Source: WV Stahl; VDEh 2016

In the EU, about 52% of hot rolled coil, sheet and strip is delivered directly to end-use sectors, while the remaining share is further processed and traded through steel service centres and merchants (Steel Statistical Yearbooks der WSA). The automotive sector is with about 41% of hot strip mill product purchases (European Steel in Figures 2021, Eurofer) the largest end-user, followed by buildings (construction) and tubes¹. Neither for the EU nor for Germany it is clear whether the further processed products made of hot rolled coil are typically produced at the same company (I) or another location (B2B).

Based on the Steel Statistical Yearbooks of the WSA, we estimated² that in Germany on average 80% of the hot rolled coil is either delivered directly (2008-2016) and the remaining production (20%) is further processed (WSA 2018). The distribution of all direct deliveries of steel products can

¹ Tubes are considered aggregated in the statistics (UBA 2024), thus no further distinction is possible. Cullen et al. (2012) state that tubes are mainly used in the construction sector and for industrial equipment on the global level. However, this may very on EU or national level.

² As described in the statistics and UBA (2024), steel products are traded either in their semi-finished/hot rolled form or further processed. Statistics, such as WSA (2018), can be used to calculate the respective share since production quantities for both types are published (semi-finished/hot rolled and further processed products). However, hot rolled flat products include besides hot rolled coil also hot rolled plate. Thus, we used Cullen et al. (2012) to allocate the further processed forms. In general, the allocation of the further processing is unequivocal with one exception: welded tubes. For this, we used the share from literature (Cullen et al. 2012). Since the production quantity of welded tubes is comparatively low, the possible deviation is small compared to the total production of hot rolled coil.

be seen in Table 7. A specific distribution of hot rolled coil is not available for Germany, but EU data can be used as proxy.

Exports of German and EU products (hot rolled wide and narrow strip, lengths cut and wide flats) compared to production (hot rolled coil, sheet and strip) range around 4% or 5% of total production in Germany or the EU, respectively. While this share is relatively constant at the EU, it is slightly decreasing for Germany. Albeit this share is low, it shows to what extent, e.g. German producers face a global market, and thus, likely competition.

Regarding the product homogeneity, hot rolled coils could differ in their production process and material composition, which leads to slight differences in quality. According to a study by Ecorys (2008), in particular, the automotive industry has high quality requirements, e.g. high strength and light weight. Thus, the largest share is produced of BF/BOF steel, while EAF steel is less used because it fulfils not yet the quality requirements for components in automobiles (Ecorys 2008; Cullen et al. 2012). So far, further data considering other differences in material composition are not available for hot rolled coil (Ecorys 2008; JRC 2020). Thus, other distinct product features cannot be derived from the results of section 2, literature (JRC 2020; Ecorys 2008) or statistics (WSA 2018).

The existence of different regional prices point to the existence of regional markets, of which Europe displays the lowest prices. This signals a competition in the market, as well as barriers between markets; otherwise prices should be rather similar. The assessment of production costs is based on input costs for labour, raw material, energy and other factors (e.g. intermediate products, capital expenditures). It ranges around EUR 458 /t for BF/BOF steel (in 2019)³. The costs are below those in the US, and Ukraine, but above those of other large producers such as Brasilia, Turkey, China (JRC 2020). The costs of EAF based hot rolled coil are around EUR 486 /t in the EU (27) (JRC 2020). The prices in Figure 4 are averages of hot rolled coil, sheet and strip prices and thus not fully comparable to the costs of HRC⁴. Temporarily, under a tough competition, HRC could be sold at market prices below the average costs as long as variable costs of production are covered. In contrast, the export value per t of hot rolled coil (24103110/30/50, Prodcom) is EUR 529 /t for the EU in 2019.

³ Section 2

¹ As prices and costs are based on different aggregated flat steel groups, a direct comparison (one by one) is not feasible. This is a general challenge we face with the data.



Figure 4: Regional prices of hot rolled coil, sheet and strip

Overall, we find that hot rolled coil are products of a B2B market, in which a large share is directly forwarded to end-use producers. However, it is unclear whether or to which extent this share of HRC producers is integrated in large corporation encompassing end-use producing units and or to which extent HRC producer deliver their products to companies with which they have a long-term contract. The remaining share is traded through merchants/traders. Albeit only a small share of around 5% (4%) of the EU (or German) production is exported (excl. intra-EU trade), this share signals an exposure of 5% of domestic production to global competition. As statistical information on product differentiation such as differences in quality are not available in this granularity, we cannot assume that price differentiation is feasible or not. However, we find that the market price in the EU (2019-2020) is lowest while the production costs are at the upper global range (2019). Further, the margin between the EU average price and the calculated production costs might temporarily be negative, but when compared to the EU export value (2019), it is positive. Similarly, for Germany, the production costs (see UBA (2024)) are above the EU average price (2019-2020), but below the export value (2019). Given that three out of four indicators (Table 6) imply a certain degree of competition, but not full competition in the market for HR in the EU and Germany, we assume no or limited potential of cost passing-through.

Market structure - supplier side

Table 8: Overview on indicators of market structures of HRC

Aspect	IN	Level	Indicator	Findings	Passing- through
Market size	5	Global, EU, national, local	Market and prices in €/t	Several large regional and global markets (MEPS 2020, see indicator IN 4 in Section 2.1, and Figure 4): global market 3 large regional markets	Large markets -> price takers: -

Source: see Figure 13 - Figure 15, MEPS 2020

Aspect	IN	Level	Indicator	Findings	Passing- through
Market participants	6	Global, EU	Numbers of producers	Producers: crude steel producer with > 3 Mt/year, 2020, WSA: EU: 10 global: 107 HRC producer in 2019, JRC 2020 report, EU: 19	n.a.
Market share	7	Global, national	% of top 5 (global) % ranks (Germany) % export share to global exports for EU, Germany	Market shares of crude steel producers, 2020, WSA: share of top 5 global suppliers is 17%, no German supplier share among top 10 EU suppliers: German suppliers hold a share of 1.08%, and are of rank 2nd, 7th, and 10th Export share of Germany or EU producers (Prodcom 24103110/30/50) to global market (HRC, sheet and strip, WSA) in 2019: exports share, Germany: 5% export share, EU: 5%	Exposure to global market: -
Market entry, market exit	8	Global or EU	Number per year (or each 2, 5 or 10 years)	Number of companies manufacturing of basic iron and steel and ferro-alloys (C2410), SBS 2011-2019 for Germany and EU: changes between consecutive years range between -17 and +15% in Germany, and -2 to + 8% in the EU "Consolidation process in European steel industry results in few companies with large share of steel production. This indicates the presence of market entry barriers, probably caused by economies of scale and high capital intensity; large multinational companies dominate the steel industry" (Ecorys 2008)	High dynamics: -
Intensity of rivalry	9	Global Germany	Yes/no, examples Sales (€)or production (t) over time	no new industry Turnover between 2011-2018 of companies manufacturing basic iron and steel and ferro-alloys (C2410), SBS, Germany and EU: variations between -10% to + 18% (Germany) and -9% to + 17% (EU)	High volatility: -

Note: n.a.: no assessment possible; IN: indicator number; - low potential for passing through, + high potential for passing through

As outlined above, there are regional markets with differing prices for hot rolled coil, sheet and strip. The number of hot rolled coil producers is not available; instead, we use the number of the crude steel producers as a proxy for hot rolled coil manufacturers. Chinese companies, as well as

Japanese and ArcelorMittal in Luxembourg are the top 5 producers of 107 producers (>3Mt/year) worldwide, covering 16% of global production. In the EU, 10 producers (>3Mt/year) are active, of which German and Ukrainian producers follow the Luxemburg production site (ArcelorMittal) in volume of output in 2020. This situation might have changed due to the Russian-Ukrainian war. Currently, an analogous overview by WSA on production in 2021 and 2022 are not available.

	in Mt (2020)	Share
Total steel production in t (global)	1,880.41	
whereof the top 5 globally:		
Production Baowu in t (China)	115.29	6.1%
Production Arcelor Mittal in t (Luxembourg)	78.46	4.2%
Production HBIS in t (China)	43.76	2.3%
Production Shagang in t (China)	41.59	2.2%
Production Nippon in t (Japan)	41.58	2.2%
whereof the 10 largest in Europe:		
Production ArcelorMittal in t (Luxembourg)	78.46	4.2%
Production Thyssenkrupp in t (Germany)	10.73	0.6%
Production Metinvest in t (Ukraine)	10.16	0.5%
Production SSAB in t (Sweden)	7.54	0.4%
Production CELSA in t (Spain)	6.90	0.4%
Production voestalpine in t (Austria)	6.69	0.4%
Production Salzgitter in t (Germany)	6.03	0.3%
Production RIVA in t (Luxembourg)	5.11	0.3%
Production ISD in t (Ukraine)	4.53	0.2%
Production HKM in t (Germany)	3.50	0.2%

Table 9:Overview of top crude steel producers (2020)

Source: WSA (2020a)

Regarding the significance of exports or imports, the share of EU exports (and imports) of hot rolled coil compared to the global exports of this product ranges around 4-5%, (Prodcom, WSA).

The number of market entries and exits is only available at the aggregated level of manufacture of basic iron and steel and of ferro-alloys, and is the difference between the number of companies in the current and previous year. There is an increasing trend in the EU, while in Germany, the numbers are decreasing (see Figure 5). The changes in consecutive years range between -17% and +15% in Germany, and in the EU, between-7% and + 10% from 2010 to 2020, both pointing to an agile market with market exits and entries. However, the slightly negative trend in the number of firms for Germany might indicate a consolidation of the market, similar to that of the EU till 2016. The trend in the EU has reversed since 2016. A study of Ecorys (2008) describes the former development at the EU level (p. 56): "As a result of consolidation in the European steel industry, relatively few companies account for a large share of the steel production. This indicates the presence of entry barriers to new companies - most likely caused by high capital requirements and economies of scale. Apart from foundries and the casting industry, large, multinational companies dominate the steel industry, albeit to a lesser extent than other sectors." Albeit a potential consolidation, the high fluctuation in the number of firms signals a clear competition in the market.

"However, the world steel industry is still less international and more fragmented than other sectors. The top 10 largest producers turned out 30% of the production (2006) – whereas the top 10 household appliances producers turned out 80%, and the top 10 automobile producers turned out 95%. In other words, there is room for further consolidation and internationalisation of the sector. Thus, the current consolidation phase is expected to continue - a factor which is strategically important from a competitive perspective, e.g., to increase negotiating its power with its main suppliers and customers." (Ecorys (2008)).

Figure 5: Number of basic iron and steel and of ferro-alloys manufacturers in Germany and EU (28) over time⁵



Source: Eurostat SBS, Annual detailed enterprise statistics for industry (NACE Rev. 2)

Regarding intensity of rivalry, we look at the turnover of companies producing basic iron and steel ferro-alloys (C2410) and find variations between consecutive years of -16% to + 25% (Germany) and -13% to + 21% (EU) between 2010 and 2020. This points to a very dynamic market and rivalry, supporting the assumption of a strong market competition (see Figure 6). It is to note that the turnover is also driven by the general economic development in the EU and Germany, respectively.

⁵ Note: company is understood as a legal organisational unit producing goods or services with a certain degree of autonomy in decision-making.



Figure 6: Overview on turnover of the steel sector over time in Germany and the EU

Source: own illustration based on Eurostat SBS, Annual detailed enterprise statistics for industry (NACE Rev. 2)

Based on these findings, the crude steel market is characterised by large, globally acting manufacturers many of which have integrated hot rolled coil production (Ecorys et al. 2008). Besides vertical integration, trade of hot rolled coil takes place through merchants and steel service centres based on current market conditions or purchase agreements or contracts⁶. The slightly decreasing trend in the numbers of companies manufacturing basic iron and steel and of ferro-alloys) in Germany points to a strong competition in the market. Given that five out of six indicators on the market structure point to a competitive market (Table 8), we conclude that the market of HRC producers is competitive and passing through of prices is challenging.

⁶ Often limited to a given period of time; could also be indexed to an index.

Environment of the company

Aspect	IN	Level	Indicator	Findings	Passing- through
Integration	10	German companies	% of production/sales per type (I, L)	no data; for qualitative assessment see indicator 1 "Many foundries are a part of an OEM. E.g. Daimler, BMW and VW have their own foundries data covering the EU15 from Eurometal Of a market supply of 150 million, 50 million are direct mill sales (approx. 33%), 40 million are sold to SSC companies (approx. 25%) and 60 million are sold to steel stockholding companies (approx. 40%). In this regard, it should be noted that direct sales figures might be underestimated." (Ecorys 2008)	n.a.
Substitutes	11	Global	Yes/no actual or hypothetical substitution	Yes: The substitution of steel in vehicles is currently being conducted mainly for light-weighting. The main aim is to reduce fuel consumption for the same vehicle size. Various materials are available for this purpose: aluminium, magnesium-alloys, fibre- reinforced polymers and advanced high-strength steels. For the first three, the environmental impact is estimated to be higher than for steel, especially when recycling is considered. Higher production costs apply to all of them. A complete substitution of steel is not possible. For the substitution of hot rolled coil aluminium is most relevant, the other materials are typically used for other components (Geyer, 2016, European Aluminium 2023)	

Table 10: Overview on indicators of the business environment of HR

Aspect	IN	Level	Indicator	Findings	Passing- through
Sales market	12	Global	Number of automotive customers Alternatives: yes/no; brief description	Number of automotive producer (www.oica.net, 2017): globally about 22 with a market share above 1%, few large players with market shares >10% such as Toyota and Volkswagen (VW), many smaller producers with shares below 1% EU: few large producer such as VW, Fiat, Renault, Daimler, BMW. Germany: large dominating automotive producer such as VW, Daimler, BMW. Alternatives: other, large sector using strip mill products are the building and steel pipeline sector, prices are not higher (see indicator 1)	- for Germany and EU
Product innovation	13	German companies	Yes/no	With increasing quality of scrap steel, EAF steel could be used for HRC (Dworak et al. 2022). Alternatives with new material are not yet available	n.a.
Process innovation	14	German companies	Yes/no	For the production of high quality steel also steel made from the direct reduction of iron can be used**.	new product feature: +/-

** see section 2.3.1

Note: n.a.: no assessment possible; IN: indicator number; - low potential for passing through, + high potential for passing through

Along the value chain from steel producers to equipment manufacturers, several intermediaries' further process the intermediate product until it is delivered to the automotive industry. The intermediaries between mills (upstream part) and the equipment manufacturers (downstream part) of the intermediated product include service centres, stockists, contract manufacturers and component suppliers. They add value to the product by stockholding or by processing standardised raw materials to the specific sizes, shapes and tolerances required by the customers. The value added provided by intermediaries, thus, includes services in different positions along the supply chain. In the steel-automotive sector, many foundries are integrated in an OEM (original equipment manufacturer), for example, Daimler, BMW and VW have their own foundries. No data has been found regarding the quantity and structure of distribution channels of EU (27). But data covering the EU15 (Eurometal) gives an indication. 50 million are direct mill sales (approx. 33%), 40 million are sold to Steel Service Companies (SSC) (approx. 25%) and 60 million are sold to steel stockholding companies (approx. 40%), of a total of 150 million euros. However, it is important to note that direct sales figures might be underestimated, as, for example, data from Eurofer report higher direct sale numbers with 80 million tons being directly sold to end-users, and sales to SSCs and merchants/stockholding companies are equally reported to be 100 million tons.

Steel producers face a continuously changing environment when looking at the automobile sector. To reduce the weight of automobiles and increase energy efficiency (reduce fuel consumption), the

industry is replacing steel by different materials, which have a lower weight than steel, such as aluminium, magnesium alloys, fibre-reinforced polymers and advanced high-strength steels. These substitutes are more costly and less environmentally friendly to produce, especially if compared with recycled steel. However, a complete substitution of steel is not feasible and for hot rolled coil, the typical substitute is aluminium, while the other steel-substitutes are used instead of the other steel-components. In contrast, incremental changes in the production process leads to products with new features potentially substituting the conventional processed products as in the case of steel from direct reduced iron. It is possible to use it for all components in vehicle body, doors, wheels, dampers, components within the gearbox etc. For example, two German automotive producers as well as one supplier established contracts with a Swedish start-up in 2021 to buy 'green' steel. This start-up focusses on the use of direct reduced iron in the EAF and furthermore ensures the recycling of new scrap from the steel purchasers in the EAF. In contrast, the use of recycled steel from old scrap is less likely due to quality requirements (VDI 10/2021, Automobil-Produktion 5/2021, Automobil-Industrie 11/2021). However, EAF steel for hot rolled coil is not yet commonly used in the automotive industry, as this type of steel from old scrap does not match with the high quality requirements. Recycled steel might be of lower quality due to the contamination with other trace elements (Cullen et al. 2012, Pauliuk et al. 2017, Dworak et al. 2022). With respect to passing through of higher costs, we find that HRC could be substituted in the long-term by products composed of other materials or with a sustainability label (direct reduced steel). On the one hand, this potential substitution reduces the potential of passing through higher costs in the downstream value chain. On the other hand, new or changed product features allow differences in prices.

When looking at the main customer of the steel industry - the automotive sector -, we see a large number of automobile manufacturers that are dominated by a few large producers - Toyota and Volkswagen at the global level (in 2017). However, the Herfindahlindex of about 0.05 (global market) implies a competitive B2B market for intermediate steel component producers, with a low concentration of market power at the global level. Within the EU, a large share of automotive manufacturing is located in Germany, France and Spain, with dominating producers such as Volkswagen, Fiat, Renault, Daimler and BMW at the EU level, and the three German companies at the national level). Alternative sales market for strip mill products theoretically comprise the building sector and the steel pipeline industry (see indicator 1), but prices are not expected to be higher.

Regarding the business environment, we find strong market participants at the customer side and potentially emerging substitutes, both reducing the possibility of passing through rising costs of the conventionally produced product (see Table 10).

Product level

Aspect	IN	Level	Indicator	Findings	Passing- through
Cost shares	15	EU, Germany	€/t	Unit costs EU see UBA (2024) and indicator 4): unit costs €458/t BOF, €486/t EAF in 2019 (JRC 2020) energy costs between 15% and 18% of total cost; global average price of €520/t, see UBA (2024); emissions see UBA (2024)	Significant cost share: -
Price dependency of demand	16	Global, EU, Germany	Time series of prices (€) and sales (t)	Prodcom C24103110/30/50, 2008-2016: import volumes and values of Germany and EU show now price sensitivity of demand Export values of Germany and EU reveal a declining trend Export volumes of EU reveal a declining trend, of Germany no declining trend	Declining values: -
Transport costs	17	EU or Germany	€/t km	Transport costs amount to 5 to 15% of the selling price (Ecorys 2008). About 30% of all finished steel products are transported across countries (Ecorys 2008)	Significant share: -
CBAM	18	EU	Yes/no	Compensation for reduction of cost-free CO ₂ certificate allocations, for imports; no compensation for exports;	exports: -

 Table 11:
 Overview on product features of HRC

Note: n.a.: no assessment possible; IN: indicator number

Steel is a very "trade- or transport-intensive" product, i.e. about 30% of steel products are traded worldwide. Depending on the transport mode, the location and distance, transport costs amount to about 5-15% of the selling prices (Ecorys 2008). Transport modes within Europe encompass rail, road and water. The mix of these three transport modes varies between country and country, but a high share is transported via railways (due to its heavy and bulky products). Other cost components are labour costs, raw material costs and energy costs (compare UBA (2024)). Comparing the total of all costs with the global and European average market price (03/2019-02/2020) and EU export values for HRC (see indicator 4 in Table 8 and Figure 3), the BOF and EAF based hot rolled coil display a negative margin under the European market price, while both reveal a small positive margins if they could be sold at the average world market price (see Figure 7). Any additional costs come at the expense of the margin if they cannot be passed through in a competitive environment.



Figure 7: Cost shares of hot rolled coil manufacturing and prices⁷

Source: own depiction, data listed in UBA (2024), based on Medarac et al. 2020.

Note: Credits are generated from savings when raw materials are recycled inside the facility instead of purchased from external sources, or when energy is self-generated. By definition, they decrease total costs, but in some cases, for instance when the recycled material can be sold to others, they may also increase total costs. Transport costs of steel comes on top of the market price.

To answer the question how sensitive customers (automotive industry) react to price increases of hot rolled coil, we analyse the price and related demand of hot rolled coil in Germany and the EU. As we do not have specific information on the individual contracts and prices, we use the import volume and prices as a proxy for the price sensitivity of domestic demand. When calculating the changes in import values and volumes per year, we find years in which a decrease in values goes hand in hand with a decrease in volumes, and years in which an increase in prices goes hand in hand with an increase in volumes, both in Germany and the EU. Thus, it looks like price sensitivity of demand is superimposed by economic and market developments. The correlation of import values and quantity is depicted in Figure 8 in form of points and a trend line: at a lower price level an increase in import values is associated with slightly decreasing import volumes while at a high value level the import volumes even increase. Changes in the quality of hot rolled coil as well as a general increase of the production price or consumer price index influence the illustrated relationship. Therefore, it is hard to derive any indication about the potential price sensitivity of demand for hot rolled coils in Germany and the EU Overall, the demand, depicted as apparent steel use as well as the import quantity to Germany (between 10-14% of demand), is depicted in Figure 9. We find a high correlation between steel use and imports for Germany. Apart from a decline in 2009, it reveals a rather stagnating use of steel in Germany in recent time, underpinning the assumption, that the economic situation is determining demand, and finally, affects prices.

⁷ Note: Credits are generated from savings when raw materials are recycled inside the facility instead of purchased from external sources, or when energy is self-generated. By definition, they decrease total costs, but in some cases, for instance, when the recycled material can be sold to others, they may also increase total costs. Transport costs of steel come on top of the market price.



Figure 8: Import volumes and values (price base 2008) of hot rolled coil, Germany⁸ and EU

Source: own depiction, based on Eurostat (Prodcom, C24103110/30/50)





Source: own depiction, based on Eurostat (Prodcom, C24103110/30/50)

In addition, the illustration of the export values per unit of product and the total export volume over time emphasis the declining trend in export values for both, Germany and the EU, while the export volume declines for the EU, but increases for Germany. This indicates a certain

⁸ Note: at prices of 2008; price and quantity display a u-shaped relationship

attractiveness of the export market for the German producers albeit declining export values per unit. Based on this finding and the significant cost shares for energy and transport, we conclude that the scope for passing through of higher costs is small in the international market, and higher costs are expected to decrease (profit) margins per unit of product, if there is any.





Source: own depiction, based on Eurostat Prodcom (C24103110/30/50)

3.2 Polyethylene (PE) and polypropylene (PP)

In this section, we look at the so-called "ETS products" of the chemical industry. As an example, we choose the polymers of ethylene and propylene. These polyethylene (PE) and polypropylene (PP) are produced in the sector "manufacturing of plastics in primary forms" (NACE 20.16) and are further processed in the "Manufacture of plastic products" (NACE 22.2) - see Table 12. The plastics processing industry usually obtains the polymers in form of plastic pellets. It adds necessary additives (pigments, UV stabilisers, etc.) and transforms them into plastic products using plastics processing methods such as extrusion (continuous) or injection moulding (discontinuous). The energy input for plastics processing (3 MJ/kg) is significantly lower than that for the production of ethylene/propylene in the steam cracker in the upstream chain (16.5 MJ/kg). The polymerisation of ethylene and propylene ("primary plastics production") is exothermic and it requires with 2.5 to 3.2 MJ/kg also little additional process energy (mainly electricity). The value chain from refineries to final products is outlined in Figure 11.

NACE class	Title	Description		
22	Manufacture of rubber and plastics products			
22.1	Manufacture of rubber products			
22.2	Manufacture of plastics products			

Table 12: Overview on used product classes - PE and PP

NACE class	Title	Description
	22.11 Man tyres 22.19 22.22 Man 22.22 Man 22.21 Man 22.23 Man 22.29 Man	ufacture of rubber tyres and tubes; retreading and rebuilding of rubber ufacture of other rubber products ufacture of plastic packing goods ufacture of plastic plates, sheets, tubes and profiles ufacture of builders ware of plastic ufacture of other plastic products
20.16	Manufacture of plastics in primary forms	This class includes: manufacture of plastics in primary forms: Polymers, including those of ethylene, propylene, styrene, vinyl chloride, vinyl acetate and acrylics polyamides phenolic and epoxide resins and polyurethanes alkyd and polyester resins and polyethers silicones ion- exchangers based on polymers. This class also includes: manufacture of cellulose and its chemical derivatives

Based on the value chain and structure of this industry, the key focus of this analysis is on the PE and PP market, but also includes the plastics processors' downstream customers and markets (NACE 22.2).





Source: own calculation

Illustrations in UBA (2024) underline the significance of PE and PP as key inputs in plastic products used for the production of vehicles, buildings, packaging and electronics. Figure 12 illustrates the significance of PE and PP in primary plastics productions, as they account for about almost 50% of the total primary plastics demand in Europe.



Figure 12: European plastics converters: demand by application and type 2021

Source: PlasticsEurope (2022)

In the following, we analyse the competition and market of PE/PP pellets (NACE 20.16) but also include the downstream market and customers of the processed plastic products (NACE 22.2 - Manufacture of plastics products - or NACE 22 - Manufacture of rubber and plastics products) as far as data is available.

Competition

Aspect	IN	Level	Indicator	Findings	Passing- through
Variety of customers	1	Germany	Share of B2C, B2B, I	NACE 20.16, PE and PP market: large suppliers of PE and PP (NACE 20.16) many small plastic processors at the demand side (NACE 22.2) NACE 22.2 supplies three main sectors (2015, Consultic 2016): Packaging sector (PP: 44% PE: 66%), Building and construction sector (PP: 9%, PE: 14%), Automotive industry (PP: 16%, PE: 4%). NACE 22: B2C 6% (e.g. Gardena), B2B 55% (e.g. Rehau)	NACE 20.16: high + NACE 22.2: low -
Exposure to global market	2	Germany	export as % of domestic production	NACE 22 (2018, Input-Output table Destatis): GER exports 40% of production GER in EU: 27,8% of production GER in rest of world: 12,3% of production HS 39 (plastics and articles thereof, Eurostat) imports are increasing	Relative high export share: -

Table 13:Overview on indicators of competition in PE and PP

Aspect	IN	Level	Indicator	Findings	Passing- through
Homogeneity	3	Global, EU, Germany	Yes/no	PE and PP not completely homogeneous, as differences in: length of their carbon molecules, molar mass distribution, branching type, and other features, e.g. quality, delivery in time, proximity to customer, etc. prices of export, imports, EU, GER and markets vary (see UBA (2024)) signaling price differentiation and potentially different product features	Use in different applications: partly yes: (+) Different prices: +
Intensity of competition	4	Germany	Market price per unit to average total costs (AC)	Qualitative: only data for primary plastics, prices of PP and PE products are above the average unit costs, see UBA (2024) and IN (Indicator) 15 in Table 19. Quantitative: degree of competition depends on the type of plastics products (Wieselhuber & Partner GmbH 2016).	n.a.

Note: n.a.: no assessment possible; IN: indicator number

The market of primary plastics comprises large suppliers in NACE 20.16 (Figure 11, and UBA (2024)) that offer PE and PP pellets to many SME plastics processors in NACE 22.2. In 2020, a total of 3,020 companies were located in Germany; of these, 92% were companies with less than 250 employees, which were responsible for about 60% of the turnover (Destatis 2020a). Many SMEs are usually key **customers** of PE/PP products. But also a few large companies with integrated plastics processing produce consumer products⁹.

Company	Location	Total nameplate	Typical feedstock or feedstock mixture on which listed capacity is based, %				vhich
		ethylene capacity, tonnes/year	Ethane	Propane	Butane	Naptha	Gas oil
Basell Polyfine GmbH	Wesseling	738,000			10	90	
Basell Polyfine GmbH	Wesseling	305,000					100
BASF AG	Ludwigshafen	420,000		5	5	90	
BASF AG	Ludwigshafen	200,000		5	5	90	
BP Gelsenkirchen	Gelsenkirchen	576,265		2	12	73	13

Table 14: Cracker Capacity in Germany in 2015

 $^{^9\,\,}$ E.g. CDs from BASF

Company	Location	TotalTypical feedstock or feedstock mixtnameplatelisted capacity is based, %ethylene					vhich
		ethylene capacity, tonnes/year	Ethane	Propane	Butane	Naptha	Gas oil
BP Gelsenkirchen	Gelsenkirchen	484,000	1	1	11	64	23
INEOS	Dormagen	550,000				100	
INEOS	Dormagen	544,000				100	
LyondellBasell	Munchsmunster	320,000	13	17	17	53	
Dow Chemical Co.	Bohlen	560,000				100	
OMV Deutschland GMBH	Burghausen	450,000	2.5	6	6	84	1.5
Klesch-Gruppe	Heide	110,000					
Shell & DEA Oil GMBH	Wesseling	500,000					
Total Germany		5,757,265					

Source: Leena Koottungal (2015)

Regarding the variety of customers in Germany 2018, approx. 55%, of the rubber and plastic products (NACE 22) was traded on the domestic B2B market (e.g. the company Rehau manufactures bumpers for the automotive industry (KiWeb 2022a), and of these 9% are even further processed within the plastics industry. Only a small share, 6%, is traded at the B2C market (e.g. Gardena produces garden products), while 40% is traded at the global market (exported), of which 27.8% is delivered to EU member states (Destatis 2019a). Overall, the plastics (primary and products) market is a mature market.

In 2015, three large sectors accounted for about 69% of PP and 84% of PE of total demand of final plastic products (NACE 22.2) in Germany. These are first the packaging sector (demanding 44% of PP and 66% of PE), second building & constructions (PP: 9%, PE: 14%) and third the automotive industry (PP: 16%, PE: 4%) (Consultic 2016).

Using Data from the German Input-Output Statistic for 2018, the production of the sector "rubber and plastic products (CPA 22¹⁰) was 114,688 million euros. The German export share was overall 40% (45,880 million euros) and 27.8% (31,870 million euros) is exported to other EU countries (Destatis, 2023). This reveals a high activity on the European and the **international market** as well. According to a study by Wieselhuber & Partner, the competition from imports of plastics products is growing, as competitors have diminishing market entry barriers such as proximity to customers and reliability of service through the establishment of European branch offices (Source: Eurostat (2022)). However, at the EU level, imports as well as exports display a growing trend, and net exports show no trend (NACE 22.2, see Figure 13 and Figure 14). In line with this, the German import surplus of PE- and PP products in the years up to 2017 declined due to a growth in exports, and fluctuates around zero since then.

¹⁰ CEPA 22 is the equivalent of NACE 22, CPA is the statistical classification of products by activity



Foreign trade in plastics for Germany and the EU¹¹ Figure 13:

Source: Eurostat 2022

As can be seen, especially on the EU level, external imports have increased from around 13 Mt in 2010 to more than 20 Mt in 2021. EU-external exports, starting from nearly double the import value,

¹¹ Note: EU trade since 1988 by HS2-4-6 and CN8.

have only slightly increased. For comparison: Plastics Europe reports primary production of plastics for the EU in 2010 at 57 million tonnes, for 2021 at 50.1 million tonnes (Plastics Europe 2021, 2011). For Germany, total plastics production in 2021 (incl. adhesives, paints and varnishes, etc.) was around 21.1 million tonnes (2010: approx. 18.6 million tonnes) (Plastics Europe 2021, 2011). In Germany, a very modest increase of imports from outside the EU can be seen, while exports have also been roughly stable, slightly narrowing the net export balance. Furthermore, it can be seen that Germany's intra-EU trade is much larger than the EU-external trade, both for the exports and – even more pronounced - for the imports.





Source: PlasticsEurope 2022, Destatis 2022

Note: Export and import of primary PE and PP in Germany encompasses product groups WA390110, WA390120, WA390210 of Aus- und Einfuhr, Warensystematik Genesis Datenbank; specification of data sources¹²

The primary plastics Polyethylene and -Propylene are not completely **homogenous**, as they differ by the length of their carbon molecules, molar mass distribution and branching type. Some main groups for polyethylene are: HDPE (high density polyethylene) >= 0.94g/cm³, PE-LD (low density polyethylene) < 0.94g/cm³, and LLDPE (Linear low-density polyethylene) < 0.94g/cm³. In the automotive industry, products made of the polyethylene grades HDPE are used to replace steel in gas tanks and LDPE / LLDPE are used in vehicles primarily in the engine compartment. The most important area of application for PP in vehicle manufacturing is the bumper/lighting sector (Plastics Today 2020). Furthermore, the prices indicated in UBA (2024), suggest some product differentiation. Overall, the markets are considered as mature markets with established processes and actors (Wieselhuber & Partner GmbH 2016).

Prices of the different PE/PP products differ depending on the product characteristics, i.e. prices are high for special products, but low for mass products like tubes; the latter face a strong price competition. Furthermore, the value between imports and exports differ, i.e. global prices are lower than domestic prices for ethylene and propylene¹³ (input for PE/PP), while the PE/PP pellets (NACE

¹² Source: left: (NACE 22); right: primary PE/PP products: WA390110 Polyethylen, Dichte < 0,94 in Primärformen, WA390120 Polyethylen, Dichte >= 0,94, in Primärformen, WA390210, Polypropylen in Primärformen, WA390760.

¹³ Ethylene and propylene are usually processed directly. However, in 2015 there was some foreign trade (see Figure 15). Ethylene and propylene were imported, for example, from Norway (ethylene: 141,000 t, propylene: 81,125 t), but ethylene was
20.16, e.g. PE-LD in film quality and PP for injected moulding, NACE 20.16) achieve higher prices on the global than on the domestic market (Figure 15).¹⁴ The findings suggest that some domestic companies seem to be able to realise higher prices for special products on the global market.



Figure 15: Export and import values of EU 2015

Source: own calculation based on trade volume in euros, Eurostat 2020b¹⁵

Average unit costs are not available for PE and PP products separately. Further, there exist a variety of market prices for different product densities or viscosity of PE and PP. Therefore, it is not possible to compare average unit costs to market prices. Overall, the indicators suggest that a certain potential exists of passing through higher costs, but it is unclear to what extent and share of primary plastics production this applies.

	Market	structure
--	--------	-----------

Table 15:	Overview on indicators of market structures in PE and PP
-----------	--

Aspect	IN	Level	Indicator	Findings	Passing- through
Market size	5	Global, EU, national, local	Market and prices in €/t,	PlasticsEurope, 2020*: Global primary plastics market with spot and future contracts Regional primary plastics markets: Asia (mainly China), North America, Europe, Middle East Africa)	Large markets -> price takers: -

also imported from the USA (64,279 t) and the UAE (50,330 t). Propylene also came from Russia (66,646 t). Exports were made to Switzerland, among others (Eurostat, 2022).

¹⁴ The year 2015 was a year in which spot prices for propylene were significantly lower than for ethylene. In other years, the prices are about the same. Ethylene and propylene were imported significantly more than exported in 2015 (see UBA (2024). The import of polyethylene and polypropylene was slightly larger than the export.

¹⁵ PRODCOM Codes: 20141130 (Ethylene), 20141140 (Propylene), 20165130 (PP) and for PE mass-weighted prices of 20161035 (Linear PE < 0,94 g/cm3), 20161039 (PE < 0,94 g/cm3 excluding linear PE) and 20161050 (PE • 0,94 g/cm3)

Aspect	IN	Level	Indicator	Findings	Passing- through
Market participants	6	Global, EU	Numbers of producers	Number of companies in NACE 20.16, Eurostat, 2019: EU: 2330 DE: 400 Number of companies in NACE 22.2, Eurostat, 2019: EU: 47.300 DE: 6260	NACE 20.16: + NACE 22.2: -
Market share	7 Global, % o national (glo % ra (Ger % e: shar glob EU, Gern	% of top 5 (global) % ranks (Germany) % export share to global exports for EU, Germany	NACE 20.16: global top 5 producers: no shares available; Large globally acting companies are Lyndellbasell Industries, Celanese or DuPont top 10 in GER cover 52% of sales (Destatis, 2016) exports: trade shares not available, but Germany is a major exporter in the EU, see Figure 14), ***(NACE 22.2): GER top 3**: Würth GMBH & Co. KG, Freudenberg SE, Röchling SE & Co. KG, all producing a variety of plastics products; top 10 in GER cover 18% of sales (Destatis, 2016)	NACE 20.16: - NACE 22.2: n-a-	
Market entry, market exit	8	Global or EU	Number per year (or each 2, 5 or 10 years)	Number of manufacturers, Eurostat SBS 2011-2020 variation in primary plastics (20.16): changes between consecutive years range between - 14 and +18% in Germany, and -3 to +5% in the EU variation in plastic products (22.2): changes between consecutive years range between 7 and +6% in Germany, and -3 to + 4% in the EU	NACE 20.16: EU: n.a. GER: - NACE 22.2: EU: n.a. GER: (-)
Intensity of rivalry	9	Global Germany	Yes/no, examples Sales (€) or production (t) over time	Turnover of manufacturers, Eurostat, SBS 2011-2020 variation in primary plastics (20.16): Germany between -25% to +14%, EU between -11% to +6% variation in plastics products (22.2): Germany between -5% to + 12%, EU between -4% to + 6%	NACE 20.16: EU: GER: - NACE 22.2: EU: (-) GER: -

Note: n.a.: no assessment possible; IN: indicator number; * https://plasticseurope.org/wp-

content/uploads/2021/09/Plastics_the_facts-WEB-2020_versionJun21_final.pdf, ** https://www.listenchampion.de/produkt/liste-der-groessten-kunststoffverarbeiter-in-deutschland-inklusive-umsatz/, *** https://blog.bizvibe.com/blog/plastic-manufacturing-companies.

The market structure is depicted by the scope of the market, number of market participants, market shares and market entries and exits. PP and PE products are globally traded in spot and forward

contract **markets** where many suppliers and customers competitively agree the volumes and prices traded in the present and future. As a result, price competition prevails while price setting opportunities are very limited, especially when forward contracts are traded. Large regional markets are in Asia, mainly China, in the NAFTA countries, Europe and Middle East Africa.

Regarding the market growth, primary plastics¹⁶ production is decreasing in the EU (28+NO and CH), with an annual production of about 55 million tons (2020), while it is increasing worldwide with 367 million tons in 2020 (Plastics Europe 2021), see Table 13. In Germany, the production of PE/PP products has declined as well by about 4% (2017-2019) as illustrated in Figure 16. Globally, demand for plastics products is expected to growth further, which offers space for new businesses and actors. This strong demand is also reflected in the EU, where demand exceeds production.

Figure 16: Change in primary plastics production in Germany by type of plastics (¹ e.g. PET, ABS, ASA, SAN, PMMA, PC und POM; ² e.g. PUR; PE)



Source: Statista 2022, Conversio 2020

The share of the EU in global plastics production is about 15% in 2021, see Table 16. The plastics processing industry (NACE 22.2) encompasses about 55 thousand companies in the EU (Eurostat), a large share of them are SME's. In Germany, about three thousand firms, mostly SMEs, produce plastics products (NACE 22.2). Therefore, this pure number of companies suggest that there is a high competition.

With respect to global market actors, survey results by Wieselhuber & Partner (2016, p. 27) showed that 94% of respondents cited other EU firms as "highly relevant" competitors, another 89% named Asian/Chinese competitors, a further 87% pointed to Turkish competitors and another 69% to North American firms (and a further 48% to the "Rest of the World") in 2015. We have not obtained data for recent years on this finding.

Between 2011 and 2020, the number of plastics processing companies (NACE 22.2) has declined in Germany and the EU (27), while there has been an increase in the number of primary plastics producers (NACE 20.16) in a few countries, such as Poland or Romania, and the EU in total, signalling a highly competitive market (Figure 16). Especially in Poland, the increasing number of companies

¹⁶ Polyethylene (PE), Polypropylene (PP), Polyvinyl-chloride (PVC), Polyethylene Terephthalate (PET), Polystyrene (PS), Expanded polystyrene (EPS), ABS, SAN, Polyamides (PA), Polycarbonate (PC), Poly methyl methacrylate (PMMA), Thermoplastic elastomers (TPE), Polyarylsulfone (PSU), Fluoropolymers, PEEK, POM, PBT, EVOH, etc.

suggests that new competitors are emerging that might benefit from cost and efficiency advantages such as new production technologies and business models (SBS). Therefore, Poland's chemical and plastics industry has been booming in recent years due to increased foreign and domestic investment (KiWeb, 2021). In Germany, the up and down in the number of market participants - decline of production value per site (primary PP and PE) between 2019 and 2020, and the subsequent increase in 2021 (Destatis 2022) - indicates a potentially intensifying competition in the market. The reasons why the number of primary plastics producers in the EU is increasing while the number of plastics processors is decreasing have not been found in the available publications.

Year	World production	Europe production	Europe's share [%]
1950	1.7	0.35	21
1976	47	19.8	42
1989	99	27.4	28
2002	204	56.1	28
2008	245	60	24
2009	250	55	22
2010	265	57	22
2011	279	59	21
2012	288	59	20
2013	299	57	19
2014	311	59	19
2015	322	58	18
2016	335	60	18
2017	349	64.4	18
2018	359	61.8	17
2019	368	57.9	16
2020	367	55	15

Table 16:World Plastic Production and European Plastic Production (NACE 20.16)[million tonnes]17

Source: PlasticsEurope

The average size of primary plastics producers (NACE 20.16) is about 59 employees per company for the EU (27) in 2019, 116 employees per company in Germany, and about 30 in Poland (2022, Eurostat SBS). Known trade names of PE/PP plastics are Hostalen, Lupolen, Ateva or Bynes. They are offered by large globally acting companies such as DuPont, Lyondellbasell Industries or Celanese. In contrast, plastic processing companies (NACE 22.2) are mainly small companies, as the further processing of PE/PP products requires less capital-intensive investments and plants. The average size of producers is about 30 employees in the EU27 (2019), 54 employees per company in Germany (2021), and about 22 employees in Poland (Eurostat).

¹⁷ The data for 2021 are not shown here because they are not comparable (different delimitation: with secondary and bioplastics, without coatings, sealings etc.).

Some plastics producers are integrated in larger companies, for example in the conglomerate of the Würth GmbH, or the automotive supplier Freudenberg or the plastics processor Röchling SE & Co. KG. Only a share of the total turnover of these types of firms derives from plastics production and since no company-internal production figures of PE/PP products are available in the statistics, specific market shares of individual PE/PP or plastics producers, or shares of different company sizes, are not available.

The market for processed plastics products can be characterized by small producers facing large customers at the demand side. The small producers are in general price takers and not price setters, whereas some might also act under monopolistic competition. However, no data or other qualitative information is available. Therefore, it is assumed that, in general, the small producers have to accept the price offered on the market and are not in a position to determine the price or factor in additional costs, except producers have special customer relationships based on long-term contracts or are even integrated into the final product manufacturers. In general, such price takers are particularly affected by the differences in costs between the regions.

In addition to the development of firms over time, the annual change in the number of firms provides a rough estimate for **market exits and entries** and thus an indicator for competition. In the primary plastics production, changes are high for Germany, and low for the EU, in plastics products, they are low for both, Germany and the EU (Figure 17). This supports, although less strongly than the development of sales over time, a competitive market in which passing through of costs is challenging.



Figure 17: Number of manufactures in primary plastics and plastics products

Source: Eurostat, SBS

Market shares of the top 10 producers of primary plastics and plastics processors confirm the findings from above. They reveal a higher concentration of market power in the primary plastics production (2016), where 10 producers cover about 52% (2016) of the sales in Germany, while it is 19% for plastic processors (NACE 22.2) (Destatis). The market shares of primary plastics producers imply an oligopolistic market, where competition is as strong as in a polypolistic market, because the PE and PP pellets are traded globally and none of the producers is large enough to determine the price. As a result, the chances to pass through higher costs are very small even for companies with higher market shares.

Prices – spot and contract prices – are volatile. Between January 2020 and June 2022, the average monthly contract prices show an upward trend leading almost to doubling of prices. The differences between the minimum and maximum prices and the average price (contract prices) over this period are around – 38% and 44%, respectively (Table 17). This points to a volatile market offering some opportunities for price hedging and fewer opportunities for cost pass-through.

	,	
	PE-LD	PP Homopolymere
(Jan. 2020 – Jun 2022, monthly prices)	EUR/t	EUR/t
mean	1,729	1,723
std	468	470
min	1,078	1,063
max	2,420	2,480
% diff of min and mean	-38%	-38%
% diff of max and mean	40%	44%

Table 17:Price changes over time (2020 - 2022)

Source: own calculation based on KI Kunststoff-Informationen 2022, contract price

When looking at the sales of the primary plastics industry (**intensity of rivalry**), the annual variations in sales (sales related to a 10 (9) year average) are higher for Germany than for the EU27. Poland shows even larger changes (sales and number of companies), but with an upward trend, while for Germany the slope of this trend is very small. For plastics processors, sales are tending to rise, particularly in Poland. Changes in sales in consecutive years are relatively high for primary plastics production in Germany, while for the EU they are lower. Similarly, variations in sales of plastics products are higher in Germany than for the EU, but lower than for primary plastics. Overall, the sales variation indicates a rivalry, in particular, in Germany for both (NACE 20.16 and 22.2), less for the EU. Plastics products have revealed a growing trend between 2014 and 2021, followed by a small decline in 2019 and 2020 (PlasticsEurope 2022). Overall, it is expected that the growth trend in demand at global and European market will continue. Although some indicators point to a competitive market situation, to some extent passing through of cost increases might be feasible in light of growing demand.



Figure 18: Changes in sales of the primary plastics producers¹⁸

Source: own depiction based on Eurostat 2022 Production of primary plastics and plastics processors, nominal values.

¹⁸ Note: NACE 20.16 and NACE 22.22, average price is based on 2010-2019

Business Environment

Aspect	IN	Level	Indicator	Findings	Passing- through
ation	10	German com- panies	% of produc- tion/sales	no information on the degree of integration	NACE 20.16: n.a.
Integra			per type (l, L)		NACE 22.2: n.a.
	11	Global	Yes/no actual or hypothetical	Yes and no: in many applications no substitutes of plastics products (22.2), but in some applications wood or metal are	NACE 20.16: n.a.
Substitutes			substitution	an alternative Biopolymers are used but higher costs, currently market share at 1-2% (k- Zeitung 2020, KiWeb 2016)	NACE 22.2: (-)
Sales market	12	Global	Number of automotive customers Alternatives: yes/no; brief description	Use of primary plastics and plastics products in several sectors (2022): packaging 31% , construction 38%, technical parts 21%, final consumption10% (GKV, 2023); See indicator 12 in Table 10; See illustrations in UBA (2024). NACE 2016: Small number of primary plastic producers face a large number of plastics products producers (see indicator IN 6 in Table 15); NACE 22.2: Share of automotive industry is small compared to the others (9,6% of plastics products (in t) to automotive sector in 2019, PlasticsEurope 2020)	NACE 20.16: + NACE 22.2: +
Product innovati on	13	German companies	Yes/no	Know-how-intensive and precise use of equipment required; no patents possible on formulations of chemicals	-
Process innovation	14	German companies	Yes/no	Processes in fossil primary plastics and plastic products are mature, if innovations, then incremental. Further innovations are to be expected in processes for decarbonisation: bio-based polymers, electrothermic processes, etc. (Geres et al. 2019)	-

Table 18: Overview on indicators of the business environment in PE and PP

Note: n.a.: no assessment possible; IN: indicator number

Regarding the degree of **integration**, data is hardly available. In 2015, the availability of basic polymers became an issue and questioned the future reliability of polymer suppliers. At that time, the majority of plastics processing companies were not expecting any improvement in the supply situation, according to a survey (Wieselhuber & Partner GmbH 2016). While large, multinational

companies evaluate options for global sourcing towards upstream industries, small producers, i.e. the majority of European producers, are less flexible and will continue to face challenges regarding their competitiveness coming from less reliable supplies (Wieselhuber & Partner GmbH 2016). In contrast, plastics production that has been integrated in larger conglomerates or B2C manufactures could internally be cross-financed by other production units, and, thus might be able to stay longer in the market.

Regarding the downstream companies **(sales market**), the automotive sector is an important sales market, but others, such as the packaging and building sector, are even larger sales markets for the plastics industry (GKV 2023). Thus, lacking demand from the automobile sector might be compensated to some extent by other sectors as the primary input (PE or PP) is rather homogeneous. However, although the plastics processing methods for the products of the different industries are the same, the know-how of the processors lies mainly in the unwritten formulations of the plastics processing industry is a polypolistic industry with many small companies that faces an oligopolistic automobile industry, with large companies (mainly three in Germany) that belong to the top 50 of this sector (Wieselhuber & Partner GmbH 2016). Thus, the negotiation position of the plastics producers dealing with the automotive industry is not strong, especially if they are not integrated in a group of companies. In addition, competitors from Asia and China are seen as currently highly competitive and are expected to become even more competitive with respect to the automotive sector¹⁹ such that domestic producers might lose market shares.

In the past, plastics have replaced wood and metals in many applications due to their favourable characteristics. This development could theoretically be reversed **(substitution)**. Arguments against turning away from plastics in automotive construction include the facts that they are used also for safety considerations and for reasons of lightweight construction. Alternatively, biopolymers are seen as potential substitutes, but so far their production cost is still high. Their current market share is about 1-2%, but it differs by the type of applications (KiWeb 2016, k-Zeitung 2020).

In addition to new materials, recycled plastics could become more important, at least in the EU due to the EU plastics strategy, among other things. It is therefore likely that recycled plastics will be increasingly used in the future, saving primary goods and resources. To what extent, however, this is even feasible with high-quality or safety-relevant products such as e.g. bumpers in cars is still unclear. So far, about 5.5% of plastics used in the automotive sector stems from recycled plastics (Conversio 2020). Suppliers of secondary plastics, so called "regranulates", are often also primary plastics suppliers. Demand for regranulates depend on the quality-price ratio, but also on regulations or standards for final products.

Polymer mixes cannot be protected through patents **(innovation)**. Therefore, product innovations are mainly dependent on technological innovations of processes that open the window for the creation of products. Since plastics processing requires detailed know-how, very precise handling of the machinery, mainly marginal changes of products, hence, product innovations are feasible. Theoretically (and in practice), such improvements can imply gains from product differentiation to the innovating firm and thereby enhance the potential scope for passing-through input costs such as CO₂ costs embedded in the production inputs. At the customer side, the transformation of mobility from fossil fuel to electricity-based energy carriers might entail new plastics components. A similar role of innovations is proposed by Wieselhuber & Partner (2016) for the plastics products industry, in which product innovations, often developed together with the customers, play a major role in the strategies to maintain a competitive edge versus importers. Ties with customers even

¹⁹ Wieselhuber & Partner GmbH, 06/2016

play a relevant role in decisions to export the own products, which are often undertaken only if major customers set up new export (or foreign production) activities (ibid.).

Regarding the extent to which higher costs are passed through, we have arrived at contradictory findings. Together with the weak data and information on the specific sector, we are not able to conclude whether price pass-through is feasible or not.

Prod	luct	features	

Table 19:	Overview on indicators of selected product features in PE and PP
Tuble 15.	Sverview on malcators of selected product reatures in r E and r r

Aspect	IN	Level	Indicator	Findings	Passing- through
	15	EU, Germany	€/t	Cost components of primary plastics (20.16) see UBA (2024).	Low share of energy: +
				Unit costs are highly variable since they depend on inputs with very volatile prices (see UBA (2024). Assessed average unit costs of PE and PP: €1287 /t, see Annex D.1	
ares				Prices of primary plastics (20.16): range between €955 and €1765/t (PE) and €985 and €1650 (PP)/t, in 2015, see UBA (2024).	
Cost sh				Emission factors 0.35 t CO_2/t , see UBA (2024).	
Price dependency of demand	16	Global, EU, Germany	Time series of prices (€) and sales (t)	PE and PP (Eurostat, Prodcom): trend of increasing import volume with declining import values points to a certain price sensitivity	-
Transport costs	17	EU or Germany	€/t km	Differing price developments across regions and modes of transport, but small compared to total costs*	n.a.
CBAM	18	EU	Yes/no	no	-

Note: n.a.: no assessment possible; IN: indicator number; * KiWeb (2022b)

When looking at the direct inputs of PE/PP products, materials (ethylene or propylene) play a key role in costs while the **cost share** of energy input is small (below 5%). However, the production of the input material ethylene and propylene is very energy intensive, while the polymerisation (PE or PP) requires no or a low level of energy input such that that the processes are often integrated. Figure 19 displays different prices to emphasis their large range. Further, the displayed unit costs may vary as well, because it strongly depends on highly volatile ethylene and propylene prices. All

prices and costs refer to 2015. Overall, depending on the realised market price, primary plastics producer might earn a margin or make a loss per tonne of primary plastics product.



Figure 19: Prices of PE and PP pellets and costs by input

Transport cost are currently rising due to the Ukraine-Russia war, and range around 12,500 USD (11,365 EUR) for a standard 40-foot container from China to Northern Europe. For the opposite direction, 950 USD (865 EUR) was being charged for the container (KiWeb 2022c). With rising transport costs, PE/PP pellets from e.g. the US become less competitive, allowing domestic producers to pass through a larger share of their energy or CO_2 costs. However, the share of transport cost in overall costs seems to be small.

The relation of **prices and sales** is illustrated below, based on import values and quantities for two selected products, PE>0.94 and primary PP. For both products we find a linear relationship between prices and sold amounts suggesting a low inelastic demand for given demand levels, whereby a change in prices of primary PE results in a stronger decline of sales than for primary PP. The trend of import volumes and values is also illustrated in Figure 20. It shows a negative correlation for Germany and the EU.

Source: own depiction based on data from UBA (2024), and Table 20





Source: own depiction, based on Eurostat, Prodcom





Source: Eurostat, Prodcom.

PE/PP products are not covered by the first CBAM implementation stage (EC 2023). Consequently, relatively large free allocations - which cover the majority of CO₂ emissions in the production of the PE/PP precursors (Naphta/natural gas, and ethylene/propylene) - very plausibly will continue – at least for some years - to "shield" European producers from incurring high additional CO₂ costs in relation to their international competitors. At the export markets, if rather homogenous products such as PE/PP pellets are traded, they are mostly traded at global market prices. German or EU based PE/PP suppliers thereby cannot act as price setters at the global market but are price takers and thus pass through of additional CO₂ costs is not feasible under such global market conditions. In contrast, German plastics processors might benefit from this situation, as global and domestic

²⁰ Note: at prices of 2008; Note: linear relationship with an R2 of 0.5 and 0.7 respectively

prices of PP and PE merge without cross-border mechanisms and the market is then a global market.

Overall, the picture of the market is not clear. Although some indicators point to highly competitive markets, other indicators underline a high dynamic and variety of market prices (and hence places) offering new opportunities and chances to cover all costs. However, higher CO₂ costs of domestic producers represent a competitive disadvantage if companies abroad do not face costs in similar magnitude.

3.3 Automobile sector

The automobile sector, as a highly relevant customer sector for both hot-rolled steel coils and plastics products, is itself briefly addressed in the following. One major argument for doing so is the proposition that the European and German automotive industry's own competitive situation (and market development in terms of sales and competition) plays a relevant role for its ability to pay higher prices to their steel or plastics suppliers as a consequence of prices shock on the suppliers' side. Since, the role of plastics in car manufacturing is expected to increase in the following years (Knauf Industries 2020), the competitiveness of the business clients becomes more and more an important precondition for plastics producers along the value chain to pass through potential cost increases.

The automotive industry and market is very heterogeneous in its products, and competitive at a global level. Further, the ongoing environmental concerns regarding air pollutants, the energy transition and the recent energy crisis (Russia-Ukraine war) have brought about a situation of upheaval in the automotive industry. This upheaval is accompanied by technological developments in the information and communication technologies and the energy transition (twin green and digital transition (Muench et al. 2022) potentially entailing new forms of individual mobility. The combustion engine of cars seems to disappear slowly, and electric cars are gaining (slowly) market shares. This development is depicted in Figure 22.



Figure 22: Registrations of cars in Germany

Source: own illustration based on data of the Kraftfahrt-Bundesamt

Furthermore, the car market is a highly competitive market, in which German manufacturers have to compete. The market share of German car manufacturers in Germany has increased during the last years, displaying a re-enforcement of their competitiveness. When looking at the electric car segment, the market shares of German manufacturers in Germany seem to be decreasing. However, an interpretation of the data differentiated into in combustion and electric cars is not yet meaningful due to the small number of observations and databases. Both developments are depicted in Figure 23 and Figure 24.

When assessing the CO₂ cost share of a BEV²¹ (see UBA (2024)), and including CO₂ costs embedded in all analysed materials, the cost share might amount to about 1.6% for a medium-sized BEV at CO₂ prices of $\in 100/t$ CO_{2eq}. (see UBA (2024)). Figure 25depicts these cost shares of CO₂ for different materials of a BEV, and the total (all materials, including e.g. aluminium and glass) under the assumption of a CO₂ price of $\in 100/t$ CO_{2eq}. These seemingly low costs imply that passing through additional costs to the final end user (BEV buyer) should not be a problem. However, given the challenging and changing environment in the BEV market, assessing the pass-through of additional CO₂ costs is challenging. As demand of conventional combustion cars is decreasing and of electric cars increasing, we assume that prices could be passed on in the latter segment. However, this assumption is not yet supported when we look at the weak market position of German electric car manufacturers in Germany with respect to BEV market shares in Germany.



Figure 23: Registrations of cars in Germany





Source: own illustration based on data of the Kraftfahrt-Bundesamt

²¹ Assumption: total price of a BEV car is 20,000 euros (small to medium size)





Source: own assessment based on data from UBA (2024) Note: data in UBA (2024), assumed CO₂ price of €100/t CO₂, BEV price of 20,000 Euro

4 Discussion and summary

The aim of this Section 4 is to assess to what extent higher costs induced by CO₂ prices can be passed through from the supplier of primary plastics and hot rolled coils to the respective customer, be it B2B or B2C. Based on selected indicators describing the competitive situation and market structures and business environment (see 4.1), an assessment of the potential of passing-through increased costs has been conducted. The findings in section 4.2 reveal that data to assess and describe the passing-through at the disaggregated level were hardly available. Further it became clear, that there are a variety of individual business relationships and market condition, making it impossible to make a clear statement on the passing-through potential of the NACE branches C20.16 and C24.1031. Therefore, the aim of this section is to highlight the variety of passing through potentials and account for the market dynamics by displaying ranges of passing through. This is done by illustrating the passing through potential of four different cases.

1) Integration and reference case (unit cost):

Hot rolled coil production is integrated in the automotive industry. In case the hot rolled coil production is part of the automotive industry, the complete unit costs (of all inputs, not only CO₂) can theoretically be fully passed on to the end product, but only internally. This leads to higher costs of downstream products, and weakens their competitiveness, especially if hot rolled coil could have been purchased at lower prices at the global market. Hence, the final cost pass-through of additional CO₂ costs depends in this case on the market position of the integrated automobile industry in the B2C market, i.e. the automobile market. This case 1 also serves as reference case for the other cases, as it depicts the full unit costs under a CO₂ price of $\leq 100/t$ CO₂.

2) Spot market - competition

In case hot roll coil producers sell their product on the global market, the price is the result of global supply and demand, i.e. the market price mechanism. Under a global, competitive market, the suppliers are price takers. Thus, regionally differing costs such as CO2 costs cannot be passed on, since under full competition prices equal marginal costs. In the HRC spot market, prices range theoretically around the minimum average production costs of all competitors. In case suppliers are active in a closed internal market, i.e. they face no competition through imports and have no exports, and all suppliers face the same production conditions including cost increases, then theoretically, costs can be fully passed on while demand might decline. However, a closed market is far from reality and would not be beneficial for the welfare of a society. Instead, to leverage efficiencies in production and consumption, and hence, increase welfare, markets should to be open and accessible for all potential manufactures and consumers. The CBAM aims to create similar production conditions for companies within the EU and importers to the EU. Therefore, importers incur additional costs from purchasing import certificates that are directly linked to European CO2 certificate costs. In principle, the CBAM acts in one direction, namely for importsCO2. In contrast, exports of European products to the rest of the world are still traded at global market prices. Theoretically, rebates could be introduced to enable a "level playing field" also for exports from EU manufacturers in the sectors covered by the CBAM, but these are very contentious in the international area and could be challenged before the WTO. Without such rebates, the global market prices might only be affected by the CBAM in case many global producers adjust their production processes and reduce their CO₂ emissions as well. However, this would require among others a general agreement on standards, market regulation and markets for CO₂

3) + 4) Special relationships and contracts - indexing

Hot rolled coil producers could agree on a purchase contract with an automotive manufacturer. Such purchase agreements could include a price or price component that is indexed on production price indices (PPI) or other input markets such as CO₂ prices, or electricity prices. For example, electricity contracts with energy intensive industries partly base the contracted price on the PPI. Under PPI indexing, passing on of CO₂ prices is to a very limited degree feasible because CO₂ prices affect the costs of other manufactured products, and, hence, the PPI as well. The average share of energy cost per value added is about 6% (Öko und DIW 2016) in the industrial sector in Germany (2016). A production price indexed contract accounts only for a cost transfer of about 0.4% (6% x 7%) when assuming an electricity price increase by $7\%^{22}$, given a CO₂ price of 100 \notin /t. Another source reports that changes of CO₂ costs by one percentage result in electricity price changes of 0.075%²³, but it includes other input price increases as well. Overall, the PPI is an option that accounts for changes in CO₂ costs, but only to the degree as it is included through energy in the producer price index. We index the whole product price with the PPI index and assume - as outlined above - that an increase of the CO₂ price to \notin 100/t entails an increase of the PPI by 0.4%.

4.1 Hot rolled coil

General findings

In 2020, the market of basic iron, steel and ferro-alloys in the EU and Germany is characterised by about 2770, respectively 460 manufacturers of basic iron and steel and ferro-alloys (Eurostat, SBS) on the supply side and a few large industries on the demand side, e.g. the automotive industry and the building sector. In the automotive industry, primarily HRC from BOF are used (for shares of HRC from BOF or EAF see UBA (2024)). HRC could be partly substituted by aluminium in certain applications in the automotive industry, but from a cost and environmental perspective, this is not better. Further, product differentiation is potentially feasible, e.g. through different quality aspects and proximity to customers. We assume that HRC producers pursue similar strategies as other business sectors with rather standardised products, and strive to differentiate their products further, to become "unique" for their client. This could include additional services and reliability guarantees regarding guality and in-time delivery. Regarding markets and prices, we find regional markets and prices e.g. in North America, Asia, EU, whereas in the EU the prices were the lowest, at least in the period 05/2019 to 02/2020. There are large crude steel producers that act at the global market, but export shares of Germany and the EU are low in relation to their production. So the main market of hot rolled coil for European and German producers is within the EU. Import shares in relation to demand for HRC in Germany range around 12%. Given these market characteristics, the market is rather competitive and individual pricing or premiums depend on the special position and integration of hot rolled coil manufacturers in the value chain.

At the demand side, hot rolled coil manufacturers have to deal with dominating final B2B customers from the automotive industry, in particular for the vehicle body²⁴. Consequently, they have

²² Note: impacts of CO₂ depend on the technology mix and price level. An impact modelling of the ambitious CO₂ targets of the EU (CO₂ price around 100 Euro/t, in 2025, Pietzcker et al. 2021) assesses an increase by 7% of electricity prices compared to the reference.

²³ Note: Impact of CO₂ prices on electricity price depends on the technology mix of electricity generation, on the level of CO₂ price and the fluctuation of the market price. An assessment of ETS impacts on the power stock price reports a 1% change in ETS entails a change in prices of 0.075% (Garcia et al. 2021).

²⁴ As mentioned in UBA (2024), around 70% of steel used for the production of vehicles is HRC and around 77% of this is used for the manufacturing of the vehicle body (i.e. 54% is HRC of the vehicle body). While HRC is also used for other components, the value chain structure is less transparent due to e.g. steel service centres (see Table 7).

integrated a part of the value chain of hot rolled coil production, both in the EU and Germany. Thus, hot rolled coil producers face a demand side with a few market dominating firms, and vertical integration, both enforcing the competitive situation of hot rolled coil producers. However, existing positive experiences regarding supply flexibility, guality or product adjustment, proximity to customer and trustworthy relationships between suppliers and customers might strengthen the position of HRC suppliers and might offer some scope for cost pass-through at individual levels. Available information on the cost structure and actually obtained market prices are very limited, such that it remains unclear what the margins are (comparable to earnings before taxes (EBT) at the company level). Under the condition that passing-through of higher CO₂ cost is difficult, increasing costs are likely to result in a negative margin. In the case of very small margins, any additional burden drains a company's profit. Regarding the price sensitivity of demand, the assumption of a permanent and clear link between demand and domestic or global HRC prices cannot be supported by our available price and import data, as both demand and prices are driven by many other, external factors such as economic cycles and global actors. The passing on of additional costs caused by regional price changes depends also on the contractual relationship between supplier and customer and the degree of competition in the market. Thus, under individual relationships and contracts, additional costs could be passed through between zero and 100 percent. Under a competitive market situation, the potential passing on of prices is very low.

Illustration of cases

The findings do not allow a clear statement regarding the potential of passing through higher costs. However, it reveals a heterogeneity of potential competitive situations. Therefore, we use the four "competition" cases for HRC (BOF) to illustrate potential effects of a CO₂ price of $\leq 100/t$ on the HRC manufactures. Further, we assume a full factoring in of opportunity costs for all freely allocated CO₂ allowances for the HRC. As CO₂ price we assume $\leq 25/t$ CO₂ and $\leq 8/t$ CO₂ in 2019 and 2015, respectively.

Another option for a price index is the price of CO₂ emission allowances in the EU. We assume a full accounting of CO₂ cost increases, i.e. the cost increase due to CO₂ is fully included in the contract price and augments the contract price by the same magnitude. This assumption reflects a strong and stable business relationship between supplier and customer. In contrast, less strong business relations might allow to include only a share of the CO₂ cost increase. The cost share of the cumulated direct and indirect CO₂ emissions of hot rolled coils²⁵ amounts to about 10% of the total product price of HRC in 2019 when using ξ 25/tCO₂ eq. or to about 37% under a CO₂ price of ξ 100/t CO_{2eq} (based on CO₂ emission factors per product unit - 2.3 CO₂ eq. t/kg product, cumulated (section 2.3) - and CO₂ costs to total product price). We include all direct and indirect CO₂ emissions since forming of HRC is a consecutive step in the steel production process for the use in the automotive industry.

These various pass-through potentials are depicted in Figure 26, where the horizontal line represents the unit cost level:

The first bar (case 1) on the left displays the hypothetical production costs (cost shares see UBA (2024)) of one unit HRC based on a CO₂ price of $100 \notin tCO_2$ eq. encompassing all direct and indirect CO₂ emissions (see UBA (2024)). Full accountancy of opportunity costs of free CO₂ allocation is assumed. These costs then also represent the total price in an integrated production. Here, the final seller (B2C) - in our case the automotive industry - faces the challenge to pass-through all CO₂ based costs to the final consumer. (If, instead, the integrated firm was a supplier of components to

²⁵ Note: €25/t CO₂ in 2019, https://www.ecb.europa.eu/pub/economic-

bulletin/focus/2021/html/ecb.ebbox202106_05~ef8ce0bc70.en.html; CO2 intensity of BOF-based hot rolled coil in UBA (2024).

the automotive industry (i.e., B2B), the challenge was, obviously, to pass on the costs to the automotive firm).

Further, the second bar (case 2) from the left depicts the average of the global spot market prices for HRC (-10% and +10% as lower and upper bound of average global market price 02/2020, see Table 6). It represents the price situation in a global market under full competition and accounts for price volatilities.

The two bars on the right side depict the situation under special relationships and bilateral contracts, in which the global market price of HRC is assumed to be indexed to the national or European producer price index (case 3). Alternatively, the product price is indexed to the CO₂ price of a market (case 4), e.g. EU allowances market (here: $\leq 25/tCO_2$). We illustrate the impact of the index for a CO₂ price of $\leq 100/t$ CO₂ for both examples - the PPI and CO₂ price index. In the first case the price increases by 0.4% (see paragraph above), in the latter case, the CO₂ cost component of HRC strongly increases, as the CO₂ price is assumed to rise from $\leq 25/t$ CO₂ to $\leq 100/t$ CO₂ (an increase of more than 300%). This leads to a strong increase of the HRC price (lower and upper range), since it is linked to the CO₂ cost component in our example. Again, we assume a price volatility of +/- 10% around the global market price in 02/2020, Table 6.

Based on these assumptions (and the price ranges), this illustration underpins that

- 1) under full competition (case 2), about one third of the CO₂ price (illustrated in case 1) could not be covered by the market price (global spot market price),
- 2) under a PPI-indexation (case 3), a bit less than one third of the CO₂ costs (illustrated in case 1)could not be covered (based on the upper price range).
- 3) under CO₂ price-indexation (case 4), the higher CO₂ costs are added to the lower price range. They could be fully covered. However, we assumed a CO₂ price increase of 300% leading to a HRC price increase of more than 30% of the global spot market price, which is currently beyond the feasible scope.



Figure 26: Potential price pass-through of hot rolled coils (BOF)²⁶

Source: own assessment, data displayed in Table 11, data based on Medarac et al. 2020, ECB 2021

4.2 Polyethylene/polypropylene

General findings

The PE/PP pellets production itself is characterised by a low direct energy intensity, while at the upstream production of ethylene and propylene the energy, and hence, the CO₂ intensity is high. Further, primary plastics is a very standardised group, for which global prices exist, while the processed plastic products is a very large and heterogeneous product group, with a large variety of products adjusted to the specific needs of the client. Some large PE and PP pellet supplier have a partly integrated up- and downstream production, for example they integrate the ethylene/propylene and PE/PP production. We focus on the pass-through potential of CO₂ costs at the PE/PP market where PE and PP pellet suppliers meet PE and PP pellet demanders, which further process the pellets in plastics products. In some special cases, even the final plastics production is integrated for example into automotive producers. Under such conditions, the additional costs can be passed through to the final product level of the integrated value chain.

However, most of the customers of PE and PP pellet producers are SMEs that further process the PE and PP pellets into plastics products. These SMEs might purchase PE or PP pellets at the international market as soon as product price plus any other additional costs e.g. transportation costs are lower than domestically produced pellets. A spot and forward contract market exists, but

²⁶ Note: Prices are from 2017-2021, cost shares are from 2019: free allocation of CO₂ certificates are included as opportunity costs and hence, passed on to the customers as far as market conditions permit. As the free allocation amounts to about 90% of the depicted CO₂ costs, its contribution to total costs is considerable. In reality, the full treatment as opportunity costs is complicated by the fact that in the EU-ETs from 2021 onwards, the free allocation is applied in a dynamic way. De- or increases in production by more than 15% compared to the outset values result in a proportional de- or increase of freely allocated allowances (see ETS Directive 2003/87/EG. The indexing is calculated as follows: the CO₂ costs based on the emitted CO₂ per tonne of produced product and on the CO₂ price of a base year /here: 25 euros/t of CO₂) are deducted from the current market price and the recent CO₂ costs (here 100 euros/t of CO₂) per tonne of produced product are added to the global market price. This is just an example and any other type of indexing is possible.

in addition there are also "shadow prices", in the form of internal transfer prices, that apply in case of integrated production. However, no data is available on the share of spot market, contract market and integrated production volume, respectively.

While spot market prices allow for an immediate adjustment to changing environments, contract prices are less flexible, unless they are indexed to price developments (price indices). The data also shows that changes in prices entail slightly larger changes in import volumes in relative terms, suggesting that increasing prices might lead to a stronger decline in demand.

Illustration of cases

Given the outline and analysis in section 3.2, we conclude that a general derivation of the potential pass-through of CO₂ costs is not feasible as it depends on the specific situation of a company and the respective market. Therefore, and analogously to hot rolled coils (see section 4.1) we distinguish four cases for the PE and PP pellet market. However, in contrast to section 3.1, the upper and lower price range refers to the lowest and highest value of each source as depicted in Figure 27) (see also UBA (2024)): 1) case 1 integration: production costs that are fully passed through within the integrated production to the company - in our case the automotive industry - to the final consumer; 2) case 2 global spot market with full competition: exposure to a global market under full competition at which each supplier is a price taker; 3) case 3 indexing of the total product price with the producer price index (PPI); 4) case 4 indexing the CO₂ cost component to the CO₂ price (EU ETS)CO₂.

These cases are outlined in Figure 27. The horizontal line represents the unit cost level. On the left, the first bar displays the hypothetical production costs of one unit of primary plastics (case 1) based on a CO₂ price of $100 \notin tCO_2 eq.$, including all indirect and direct emissions. The final seller (B2C) faces the challenge to pass-through all CO₂ based costs to the final customer, in our case to the customer of the automotive industry. The next two bars from the left show the average spot market prices for PP and PE (case 2). They represent the situation at a global market under full competition where no pass-through of additional costs is feasible. They show the upper and lower price range over the considered time period. The next bars depict the situation under a contract for PE that is assumed to be indexed to the producer price index (case 3), or the CO₂ price (case 4). Both represent situations, under which a part of the additional costs could be passed on²⁷. Case 1 represents not only an integrated production but also the reference case as it shows the production costs (unit costs). The unit costs of PE and PP products cannot be displayed separately since cost shares are only available for NACE 20.16 and not for sub-groups (see UBA (2024)). Prices and costs refer to 2015. The findings are:

- 1) Since unit costs depend to a large degree on volatile input prices of ethylene and propylene, there is a range of uncertainty, i.e. in case of a unit cost around €1,500/t primary plastics costs could only be covered by an upper price range.
- 2) Under the lower price range, CO₂ costs are not covered, neither in case 2 nor in cases 3 and 4.
- 3) Under the upper price range, CO₂ costs are completely covered and margins could be achieved.

²⁷ For further explanations, see section 4.1 (hot rolled coils) for the derivation of the assumed pass-through of additional costs.



Figure 27: Potential price pass-through of primary plastics²⁸

Source: own assessment, based on data displayed in UBA (2024), ECB 2021 and Table 19.

²⁸ Note: prices cover the period from 2017 to 2021, cost shares are from 2015 for NACE 20.16, individual data for PE and PP are not available (Eurostat 2021); ** polyethylene HD. The indexing is calculated as follows: the CO₂ costs based on the emitted CO₂ per tonne of produced product and on the CO₂ price of a base year /here: 10 euros/t of CO₂) are deducted from the current market price and the recent CO₂ costs (here 100 euros/t of CO₂) per tonne of produced product are added to the global market price. This is just an example and any other type of indexing is possible.

5 **Conclusions**

The feasibility of passing-through costs depends on the ability of a company to set prices. In a market with strong competition, price setting is limited, and each individual supplier is rather a price taker. In case suppliers face significantly higher CO₂ prices than the majority of their competitors in the market, we cannot assume that passing-through of costs is feasible. However, even in a very competitive market, a small scope for passing-through of prices exists, namely in the framework of bilateral contracts and product differentiation through indexing of the price or price components. In the negotiation process of the contract, some suppliers might be able to include a pass-on clause for additional costs, for instance, because they have a long-standing customer relationship, and provided high quality and delivery in time. Since indexed prices are normally linked to certain price components or indices, like the PPI, they are unlikely to completely cover all cost increases. Overall, it becomes clear, that a domestic, unilateral pricing of CO₂ challenges the price competitiveness of the domestic carbon-intensive industry.

Under an efficient design of the CBAM, importers of carbon intensive products should face similar CO₂ costs as domestic producers within the EU. Thus, given that there is full transparency and competition in the market, a domestic market price is formed for all suppliers within the EU that accounts for potentially high CO₂ costs, or costs for mitigating CO₂ emissions. Such a situation is comparable with case 4 in sections 4.1 and 4.2. However, on the global market (EU exports), the impact of the CBAM on global prices depends on whether global producers pay for CO₂ emissions or not. They could pay through a) transformation of their whole production into a low-carbon production, or b) a tax, fee or price for CO₂ emissions at their domestic production site. If all players pay for their CO₂ emissions, the global market remains fully competitive, while these additional CO₂ costs are then fully included in the price by all producers (ideally as depicted in case 4 in sections 4.1 and 42). If global producers do not face and integrate CO₂ mitigation costs (and there are large global players), European producers will face a cost disadvantage (their costs are already not covered in the domestic market, where prices below the global level point to a high competition) when exporting to the global market (and without CBAM also at the import market) as depicted in case 2 in sections 4.1 and 4.2.²⁹

To highlight the CO₂ cost-sensitivity of the industry, the CO₂ cost-coverage potential is displayed in Figure 28. It depicts the difference between the specific product price and the unit costs of HRC (BOF) without CO₂ costs as a share of the CO₂ costs of HRC (100 \notin /t CO₂).³⁰ Therefore, it shows to what extent the product price could cover the specific CO₂ costs of HRC. This is illustrated for the cases 2-4, and for primary plastics as well:

- A negative value indicates that the market price is lower than the specific production costs of HRC or PE (PP) and neither CO₂ nor other input costs are covered.
- A positive value between 0 and 1 shows the share of the costs covered by the respective market price.

²⁹ HRC (2019): Based on the total production of HRC (38.7 Mt), the imports (9.3 Mt) and the exports (4.1 Mt) around 43.9 Mt HRC are available on the EU market (Eurostat 2020b; WSA 2023). Around 11% of HRC is exported. Note: this includes trade flows within the EU as no statistics reports the extra-EU trade separately on product level.

All finished steel products (2019): Total production (143.6 Mt), imports (154.1) and exports (133.8 Mt) lead to a domestic market volume of 163.9 Mt. Around 93% of the total production is exported in total. Roughly 26 Mt or 18% are exported to countries outside the EU (Eurostat 2020b; WSA 2023).

Comparison (2019): Around 27% of steel products, 6% of the imports and 3% of the exports are HRC (Eurostat 2020b; WSA 2023). Note: this includes trade flows within the EU as no statistics reports the extra-EU trade separately on product level.

³⁰ CO₂ cost coverage HRC = (product price HRC - (unit costs HRC - CO₂ costs HRC)) / CO₂ costs HRC

- A value of 1 reveals full coverage of the specific CO₂ costs.
- A value of > 1 signals a profit margin (all costs, including CO₂ are covered).

The findings show that in the primary plastics industry the coverage of specific CO₂ is not given in the lower price range for PP products, but ranges between 40% and 140% for PE. In the upper price range, it is more than fully covered for both products, while in the HRC-producing sector, a full coverage is only given for case 4.

Overall, under high price fluctuations and a small CO₂ cost share, the coverage of specific CO₂ costs is rather sensitive to product prices and might take extreme values as in the case of primary plastics. This illustration implies that in situations with low market prices and unchanged unit costs of production, primary plastics producers are likely not be able to cover all input costs, while in times with high market prices (upper price range case 2, 3 and 4) their coverage is even beyond a full CO₂ cost coverage.



Figure 28: Potential cost coverage of CO₂ costs – upper and lower price range.

Source: own assessment

CO₂ Non-integration of primary plastics or HRC along the value chain

If HRC or primary plastics are not integrated in the upstream value chain of a BEV producer, cost increases are (partly) born by the suppliers of HRC and primary plastics. In a competitive market with price takers (spot market), the coverage of CO₂ costs is lowest. The total costs share of CO₂ in PE or PP pellets amount to about 3%, that of HRC to about 37%³¹. Due to this low cost share of CO₂

³¹ 100 Euro/t CO₂eq., emission factors see UBA (2024), prices see Table 6 and Table 13.

in PE or PP pellets, the degree of CO₂ cost coverage is extremely sensitive to market price changes and shows a wide range of values. In contrast, the cost share of CO₂ is high for HRC, and the variations are by far lower than for primary plastics. Regarding the CO₂ cost coverage, only in case 4, the CO₂ costs can be fully covered. For the other cases 2 and 3, CO₂ costs are only covered between 30% and 80%. These results are illustrated in Figure 28. It is important to note that these values should be seen as indicative values pointing out a direction but not the absolute and exact magnitude of the pass-through. They are based on certain assumptions on costs and prices and do not fully reflect the whole variety and heterogeneity of the various supplier-customer relationships.

Integration of primary plastics and HRC in the downstream value chain

In case HRC and PE and PP production is fully integrated in the BEV value chain, we assume a complete pass-through of CO₂ costs to the final product, the BEV. Total costs of all CO₂ (€100/t CO₂eq) amount to less than 2% of the BEV costs³². The CO₂ costs of PE, PP and HRC are around 0.1% and 1%, respectively (see section 4, Figure 25). A key question is how competitive are European automotive producers, how integrated is the HRC production for BEV, and how competitive is the market? Are the automotive producers able to pass through this small cost share? Since the analysis of the automotive sector and BEV market are beyond the scope of this study, we cannot provide any conclusions on this question. Currently, global BEV producers are, however, very competitive and are gaining BEV market shares in Germany. On the other side, demand for BEV is rising in Germany. This is partly driven by several factors such as financial supports from the German government, rising awareness regarding climate change, or the energy crisis as a result of the Russia-Ukraine war. Therefore, we assume that the CO₂ costs could be rolled over as long as demand for BEVs grows.

 $^{^{\}scriptscriptstyle 32}$ with increasing price of BEVs, this share decreases

6 List of references

- ACEA (2021a): EU passenger car production. https://www.acea.auto/figure/eu-passenger-carproduction/
- ACEA (2021b): Fuel types of new passenger cars in the EU. https://www.acea.auto/figure/fueltypes-of-new-passenger-cars-in-eu/
- Adapt Plastics (2020, Februar): New trends in plastics consumption in the Automotive Industry Which materials will be the winners and losers? Adapt. http://adapt.mx/plastics-in-the-automotive-industry-which-materials-will-be-the-winnersand-losers/
- AG Energiebilanzen (2021): Heizwerte der Energieträger und Faktoren für die Umrechnung von natürlichen Einheiten in Energieeinheiten zur Energiebilanz 2019. https://ag-energiebilanzen.de/28-0-Zusatzinformationen.html (12.11.2021)
- AITEC (n.n.a): Relazione annuale 2017
- AITEC (n.n.b): rapporto di sostenibilità aitec 2017
- Allwood, J. M.; Cullen, J. M.; Carruth, M. A.; Milford, R. L.; Patel, A. C. H.; Moynihan, M. et al. (2011): Going on a metal diet. Using less liquid metal to deliver the same services in order to save energy and carbon. WellMet2050. University of Cambridge. Cambridge, UK. http://www.lcmp.eng.cam.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/T2-Report-web.pdf (15.02.2015)
- Aluminium Leader (n.n.): How aluminium is produced. https://www.aluminiumleader.com/production/how_aluminium_is_produced/ (12.11.2021)
- Arcelor Mittal (2016): Sustainability Report. Mexico 2016. https://mexico.arcelormittal.com/~/media/Files/A/Arcelormittal-Mexico/reports-andpresentations/sustainability-report-2019.pdf (12.11.2021)
- Arens, M.; Worrell, E.; Eichhammer, W.; Hasanbeigi, A.; Zhang, Q. (2017): Pathways to a low-carbon iron and steel industry in the medium-term – the case of Germany. Journal of Cleaner Production, p. 84-98. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.12.097
- ARGK (2021): About us. https://argkg.com/about-us/ (10.02.2021)
- Argonne National Laboratory (2013): Greet 2016 model
- Argonne National Laboratory (2020): GREET Model. https://greet.es.anl.gov/
- Aurora Kunstoffe GmbH (2014): Automobilindustrie Kunststoffrecycling. https://www.aurora-kunststoffe.de/wp/tag/automobilindustrie/
- Automobil-Industrie (2021): Beitrag am 11/2021. https://www.automobilindustrie.vogel.de/schaeffler-kauft-gruenen-stahl-aus-schweden-a-1073887/
- Automobil-Produktion (2021): Beitrag am 5/2021. https://www.automobil-produktion.de/technikproduktion/produktionstechnik/mercedes-benz-setzt-ab-2025-auf-gruenen-stahl-fuerautos-105.html
- automotiveplastic (without year): Car Interior Parts Are Increasingly Fabricated From Advanced Plastics. https://www.automotiveplastics.com/automotive-plastics-today/interior/ (16.04.2021)
- Bain, J. S. (1968): Industrial organization. 2. Aufl. New York: Wiley

- BASF (2020): Steamcracker The Heart of the Verbund. https://www.basf.com/global/en/who-weare/organization/locations/europe/german-sites/ludwigshafen/production/the-productionverbund/Steamcracker.html (15.12.2020)
- BASF (2015): BASF Online Report 2015. p. 49-60
- Basten M. (2016): Mineralische Bauabfälle Monitoring 2016: Bericht zum Aufkommen und zum Verbleib mineralischer Bauabfälle im Jahr 2016
- Basten, M. (2002): Zementrohstoffe in Deutschland. Geologie, Massenbilanz, Fallbeispiele. Verl. Bau und Technik, Düsseldorf
- Bazanella, A. M.; Ausfelder, F. (2017): TECHNOLOGY STUDY Low carbon energy and feedstock for the European chemical industry. DECHEMA, Frankfurt
- Becke A.; Reiners J.; Sülün C. (2014): Erläuterungen zu den Umweltproduktdeklarationen für Beton
- Benavides, P. T.; Dai, Q.; Sullivan, J.; Kelly, J. C.; Dunn, J. (2015): Material and Energy Flows Associated with Select Metals in GREET2: Molybdenum, Platinum, Zinc, Nickel, Silicon
- Bertram, M.; Ramukmar, S.; Rechberger, H.; Rombach, G.; Bayliss, C.; Martchek, K. J.; Müller, D. B.; Liu, G. (2017): A regionally-linked, dynamic material flow modelling tool for rolled, extruded and cast aluminium products. Resources, Conservation and Recycling, vol. 125, p. 48-69. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/J.RESCONREC.2017.05.014
- Bisinella, V.; Albizzati, P. F.;, Astrup, T. F.; Damgaard, A. (2018): Life Cycle Assessment of grocery carrier bags. In Downloaded from orbit.dtu.dk on: Mai (Bd. 02). https://www2.mst.dk/Udgiv/publications/2018/02/978-87-93614-73-4.pdf
- BTB (2020): Gutes Klima, Jahresbericht 2020. https://betonshop.de/media/wysiwyg/PDF/BTB_Jahresbericht_2020.pdf (12.11.2021)
- Bundeskartellamt (2017): Sektoruntersuchung Zement und Transportbeton. https://www.bundeskartellamt.de/SharedDocs/Publikation/DE/Sektoruntersuchungen/Sekto runtersuchung%20Zement%20und%20Transportbeton.pdf?__blob=publicationFile&v=4 (12.11.2021)
- BVSE (2019): Aluminium-Getränkedosenrecycling mit Rekordquote. Recycling Nachrichten. https://www.bvse.de/schrott-elektronikgeraete-recycling/nachrichten-schrott-eschrottkfz/5008-aluminium-getraenkedosenrecycling-mit-rekordquote.html (12.11.2021)

CAEF (2020): Yearbook 2019

- CEMBUREAU (2018): Recarbonation: in brief. https://lowcarboneconomy.cembureau.eu/5-parallel-routes/downstream/recarbonation/ (12.11.2021)
- CEMEX (2017): Integrated Report
- Ceresana (2016): Kunststoffe im Automobil Marktstudie.

https://www.ceresana.com/de/marktstudien/industrie/kunststoffe-im-automobil/ceresana-marktstudie-kunststoffe-automobil.html

- Chandler, A. D.; Hikino, T. (1994): Scale and scope. The dynamics of indus-trial capitalism. 1. Aufl., Belknap Press, Cambridge
- Claisse, P. A. (2016): Chapter 32 Alloys and nonferrous metals Civil Engineering Materials, 2016, p. 361-368. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-100275-9.00032-2
- Clarkson, K. W.; Miller, R. L. (1982): Industrial organization Theory, evidence, and public policy

- Consultic (2016): Produktion, Verarbeitung und Verwertung von Kunststoffen in Deutschland 2015. Alzenau
- Conversio (2020): Stoffstrombild Kunststoffe in Deutschland 2019, Mainschaff. https://www.bkv-gmbh.de/files/bkv-neu/studien/Kurzfassung_Stoffstrombild_2019.pdf
- Cullen, J. M.; Allwood, J. M.; Bambach, M. D. (2012): Mapping the Global Flow of Steel: From Steelmaking to End-Use Goods. Environmental Science & Technology, vol. 46, 24, p. 13048-13055
- Danilecki, K.; Mrozik, M.; Smurawski, P. (2017): Changes in the environmental profile of a popular passenger car over the last 30 years Results of a simplified LCA study. Journal of Cleaner Production, 141, 208–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.09.050
- Delgado, K.; Porter, S. (2012): The determinants of national competitiveness. NBER Working paper 18249. https://www.nber.org/system/files/working_papers/w18249/w18249.pdf
- Destatis (2016): Produzierendes Gewerbe Produktion des Verarbeitenden Gewerbes sowie des Bergbaus und der Gewinnung von Steinen und Erden 2016. Statistisches Bundesamt, Fachserie 4 Reihe 3.1, Wiesbaden. https://www.statistischebibliothek.de/mir/receive/DEHeft_mods_00056202
- Destatis (2020a): Statistisches Bundesamt, Fachserie 4, Reihe 4.1.2, 2020
- Destatis (2017): Statistisches Bundesamt, Produzierendes Gewerbe Kostenstruktur der Unternehmen des Verarbeitenden Gewerbes sowie des Bergbaus und der Gewinnung von Steinen und Erden 2015. Fachserie 4, Reihe 4.3, Wiesbaden. https://www.statistischebibliothek.de/mir/receive/DEHeft_mods_00069988
- Destatis (2019): Statistisches Bundesamt, Genios Datenbank, Abfrage zu Aus- und Einfuhr (Außenhandel) 2015
- Destatis (2019a): Statistisches Bundesamt, Volkswirtschaftliche Gesamtrechnung, Input-Output-Rechnung, Revision 2019, Stand August 2022
- Destatis (2020): Genesis online, Deutschland, Jahre, Warenverzeichnis (8-Steller) Daten für 2015
- Destatis (2021a): Erzeugerpreisindex gewerblicher Produkte. https://www-genesis.destatis.de/genesis//online?operation=table&code=61241-0003&bypass=true&levelindex=0&levelid=1611833211111#abreadcrumb (28.01.2021)
- Destatis (2021b): GENESIS-Tabelle: CEM-Imp_Ex. (29.01.2021)
- Destatis (2023): Volkswirtschaftliche Gesamtrechnungen. Input-Output-Rechnung. 2018 (Revision 2019, Stand: August 2022). https://www.destatis.de/DE/Themen/Wirtschaft/Volkswirtschaftliche-Gesamtrechnungen-Inlandsprodukt/Publikationen/Downloads-Input-Output-Rechnung/input-output-rechnung-2180200187005.xlsx
- DIN 2004: DIN- EN 197-1:2000: Composition, specification and conformity criteria for common cements
- DIN (2024) Zement -Teil 1: Zusammensetzung, Anforderungen und Konformitätskriterien von Normalzement. DIN EN 197-1
- DW Systembau (2019): Studie zu den Umweltauswirkungen verschiedener Betondeckensysteme

- Dworak, S.; Rechberger, H.; Fellner, J. (2022): How will tramp elements affect future steel recycling in Europe? – A dynamic material flow model for steel in the EU-28 for the period 1910 to 2050. Resources, Conservation and Recycling, 179, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2021.106072
- Ecorys; DTI; CE; CESifo; dea; consult (2008): Study on the Competitiveness of the European Steel Sector.

https://op.europa.eu/o/opportal-service/download-handler?identifier=7b6df831-0266-40a1-9ca2-13992d526bf7&format=pdf&language=en&productionSystem=cellar&part=

- EEA (2022): Trends and projections in Europe 2022. https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/trends-and-projections-in-europe-2022
- Emilsson, E.; Dahllöf, L.; Söderman, M. L. (2019): Plastics in passenger cars A comparison over types and time in cooperation with Volvo Cars. www.ivl.se
- Enviros Consulting (2006): EU ETS Phase II New Entrants Supporting Documentation: Petrochemicals. Enviros Consulting Limited, London
- ECB (2021): EU emissions allowance prices in the context of the ECB's climate change action plan, prepared by Giovanna Bua, Daniel Kapp, Friderike Kuik and Eliza Lis. Published as part of the ECB Economic Bulletin, European Central Bank, issue 6/2021. https://www.ecb.europa.eu/pub/economicbulletin/focus/2021/html/ecb.ebbox202106_05~ef8ce0bc70.en.html
- EC (2011): 2011/278/EU, Commission Decision of 27 April 2011 determining transitional Unionwide rules for harmonised free allocation of emission allowances pursuant to Article 10a of Directive 2003/87/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council
- EC (2019): Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/331 of 19 December 2018 determining transitional Union-wide rules for harmonised free allocation of emission allowances pursuant to Article 10a of Directive 2003/87/EC of the European Parliament and the Council
- EC (2023): REGULATION 2023/956 OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL establishing a carbon border adjustment mechanism
- Eurofer (2016): European Steel in Figures. 2016 Edition
- Eurofer (2018): European Steel in Figures. 2018 Edition
- Eurofer (2020a): European Steel in Figures. 2020 Edition
- Eurofer (2020b): Trade Statistics. https://www.eurofer.eu/statistics/trade-statistics/ (15.12.2020)
- European Aluminium (2017): Sustainable Development Indicators 2015 Full Data Set. https://european-aluminium.eu/media/3258/pro_sustainable-devolopment-indicators-2015_20170614.pdf (11.04.2022)
- European Aluminium (2021): Activity Report 2020. https://www.european-aluminium.eu/activityreport-2020-2021/market-overview/ (12.11.2021)
- European Aluminium Association. (2011): Applications-Chassis & Suspension-Subframes
- European Aluminium (2018): Environmental Profile Report Life-Cycle inventory data for aluminium production and transformation processes in Europe. https://www.european-aluminium.eu/media/2052/european-aluminium-environmentalprofile-report-2018-executive-summary.pdf (12.11.2021)

- European Aluminium (2023): Aluminium Content in passenger Vehicles (Europe) Assessment 2022 and Outlook 2026, 2030. Public Summary. european-aluminium.eu/wpcontent/uploads/2023/05/2023_04_Aluminum-Content_Ducker-Study_EA-Public-Summary_190423.pdf
- European Commission (2017): Competitiveness of the European Cement and Lime Sectors. https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/07d18924-07ce-11e8-b8f5-01aa75ed71a1/language-en/format-PDF/source-65040600 (12.11.2021)
- European Commission (2017): ETS verified emissions tables
- European Commission (2019): Guidance Document n°9 on the harmonised free allocation methodology for the EU ETS post 2020 - Sector-specific guidance. Final version issued on 15 February 2019 and updated on 29 July 2019 (16.11.2020)
- European Commission (2023): European Commission 2023. https://www.eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/dashboards/emissions-trading-viewer-1
- European Parliament (2003): Directive 2003/87/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 October 2003 establishing a scheme for greenhouse gas emission allowance trading within the Community and amending Council Directive 96/61/EC (Text with EEA relevance)
- European Parliament; European Council (2003): Directive 2003/87/EC
- Eurostat (2020a): Energy balance sheets 2015 data 2017 edition. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-statistical-books/-/KS-EN-17-001 (9.10.2020)
- Eurostat (2020b): Verkaufte Produktion, Exporte und Importe je PRODCOM Liste (NACE Rev. 2) -Jährliche Daten [DS-066341]. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/de/web/prodcom/data/database (15.01.2021)
- Eurostat (2021): Annual detailed enterprise statistics for industry (NACE Rev. 2, B-E) [SBS_NA_IND_R2]. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/structural-businessstatistics/data/database (28.01.2021)
- Eval. (o. J.): Fuel Tanks . http://www.eval.eu/de/anwendungen/automotive/fuel-tanks.aspx (23.04.2021)
- Febelcem (2018): JAARVERSLAG VAN DE BELGISCHE CEMENTNIJVERHEID, Brussel 2018
- Flint et al (2020): Material Flow Analysis with Multiple Material Characteristics to Assess the Potential for Flat Steel Prompt Scrap Prevention and Diversion without Remelting. Environmental Sciene and Technology, 54, p. 2459-2466
- Fruehan, R. J.; Fortini, O.; Paxton, H. W.; Brindle, R. (2000): Theoretical minimum energies to produce steel for selected conditions
- Fuchs, S. (2014): Verfahren zur parameterbasierten Gewichtsabschätzung neuer Fahrzeugkonzepte
- Gallego-Schmid, A.; Mendoza, J. M. F.; Azapagic, A. (2019): Environmental impacts of takeaway food containers. Journal of Cleaner Production, 211, 417–427. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.11.220
- GDA (n.n.): Produktion und Bedarf. http://www.aluinfo.de/produktion-und-bedarf.html (12.11.2021)
- Geres, R.; Kohn, A.; Lenz, S.; Ausfelder, F.; Bazzanella, A. M.; Möller, A. (2019): Roadmap Chemie 2050 - Auf dem Weg zu einer treibhausgasneutralen chemischen Industrie in Deutschland. A Study from DECHEMA and FutureCamp for VCI (DECHEMA & FutureCamp, Ed.).

https://www.vci.de/vci/downloads-vci/publikation/2019-10-09-studie-roadmap-chemie-2050-treibhausgasneutralitaet.pdf (05.02.2020)

- Gerspacher, A.; Arens, M.; Eichhammer, W. (2011): Zukunftsmarkt Energieeffiziente Stahlherstellung. Fallstudie im Rahmen des Vorhabens "Wissenschaftliche Begleitforschung zu übergreifenden technischen, ökologischen, ökonomischen und strategischen Aspekten des nationalen Teils der Klimaschutzinitiative". FKZ 03KSW016A und B. Fraunhofer Institut für System- und Innovationsforschung (ISI). Karlsruhe.
- Geyer, R. (2016): The Industrial Ecology of the Automobile, in Taking Stock of Industrial Ecology, p 331-341, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-20571-7_18
- Gilbert, R. J. (1989): Mobility Barriers and the Value of Incumbency. Handbook of Industrial Organization 1 (1), p. 475–535
- GKV Gesamtverband Kunststoffverarbeitende Industrie e.V. (2023): Statistik. https://www.gkv.de/de/statistik/
- GNR project (n.n.): World Business Council for Sustainable Development. GNR project: Cement Sustainability Initiative, https://www.wbcsdcement.org/index.html (26.08.2019)
- Göbbels, R.; Biermann, J.-W.; Urban, P. (2011): Analyse der sekundären Gewichtseinsparung. FAT Schriftenreihe, 2030
- Goodyear. (o. J.): Reifenmischung. https://www.goodyear.eu/corporate/de/abouttires/produktion/reifenmischung.jsp
- Hassan, A. (2013): Grundstoffchemie. Fleiter, T.; Schlomann, B.; Eichhammer, W. [ed.]: Energieverbrauch und CO₂-Emissionen industrieller Prozesstechnologien – Einsparpotenziale, Hemmnisse und Instrumente. Fraunhofer Verlag, Stuttgart, p.111 -276
- Heidelberg Zement (2016): Nachhaltigkeitsbericht 2016. (28.05.2019)
- Heidelbergzement (2017): Betontechnische Daten
- Heißing, B.; Ersoy, M.; Gies, S. (2011): Fahrwerkhandbuch (3. Aufl.). Vieweg + Teubner Verlag
- Hermann, H.; Emele, L.; Loreck, C. (2014): Prüfung der klimapolitischen Konsistenz und Kosten von Methanisierungsstrategien. Öko-Institut, Berlin
- Holcim (Deutschland) GmbH (n.n.): Umweltdaten 2017 (28.05.2019)
- IEA (2021): Aluminium. Paris. https://www.iea.org/reports/aluminium (12.11.2021)
- ifu Hamburg. (2018): bw!MFCA für Unternehmen in Baden-Württemberg. https://www.ifu.com/umberto/bwmfca/
- Ishak, S. A.; Hashim, H. (2015): Low carbon measures for cement plant a review. In: Journal of Cleaner Production 103, S. 260–274. DOI: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2014.11.003
- Japan Aluminium Association (2017): Aluminium Statistics. https://www.aluminum.or.jp/english/statistics/statistics_e.php (12.11.2021)
- Jechura, J (2018): Refinery Feedstocks & Products. https://inside.mines.edu/~jjechura/Refining/02_Feedstocks_&_Products.pdf (23.10.2023)
- JRC (2017): Covenant of Mayours for Climate and Energy: Default emission factors for local emission inventories. Version 2017
- JRC (2019): BAT Reference Document for the Ferrous Metals Processing Industry. Draft 1. March 2019

- Kämereit, C. (2019): Zur Rolle der Konstruktion in der nachhaltigen Gebäudeplanung. Dissertation, Dortmund
- Kantzenbach, E. (1967): Die Funktionsfähigkeit des Wettbewerbs. Göttingen: Vandenhoeck und Ruprecht
- Kawecki, D.; Scheeder, P.; Nowack, B. (2018): Probabilistic Material Flow Analysis of Seven Commodity Plastics in Europe. Environ. Sci. Technol. 52, 17, 9874–9888. https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/acs.est.8b01513.
- KiWeb (2016): BIOKUNSTSTOFFE Anteil am Kunststoff-Weltmarkt bleibt gering. https://www.kiweb.de vom 23.12.2016
- KiWeb (2021): Polen Kunststoffindustrie in Aufbruchstimmung / Wirtschaft brummt, Rohstoffe sind knapp und teuer / Polymerverbrauch legt 2020 um über 3 Prozent zu / Automotive-Sektor mit Bremsspuren. KiWeb.de, 29.10.2021
- KiWeb (2022a): LOGISTIK Massive Kostensteigerungen erwartet. https://www.kiweb.de 31.3.2022
- KiWeb (2022b): Ukraine-Krieg lässt Energiepreise und Luftfrachtraten in die Höhe schießen / Plus von bis zu 80 Prozent innerhalb einer Woche / Containerschifffahrt dürfte demnächst nachziehen. https://www.kiweb.de vom 10.3.2022
- KiWeb (2022c): Rehau Automotive-Werk in Ungarn offiziell eingeweiht / Wichtige Säule für Osteuropa. https://www.kiweb.de vom 18.2.2022
- Klüger, P. (2011). Energieeffiziente Produktion mit KUKA Robotern am Beispiel des Karosseriebaus
- KnaufIndustries (2020): Welche Aussichten hat der automobile Kunststoffmarkt? (02.10.2020). https://knaufautomotive.com/de/welche-aussichten-hat-der-automobile-kunststoffmarkt/
- Koffi, B.; Cerutti, A. K.; Duerr, M.; Iancu, A.; Kona, A; Janssens-Maenhout G. (2017): Covenant of Mayors for Climate and Energy: Default emission factors for local emission inventories
- Kurpinska, M.; Grzyl, B.; Kristowski, A. (2019): Cost Analysis of Prefabricated Elements of the Ordinary and Lightweight Concrete Walls in Residential Construction. Materials 2019. DOI: 10.3390/ma12213629
- K-Zeitung (2020): Turbulenter Markt für bio-basierte Polymere. 29.01.2020. Märkte, https://www.k-zeitung.de/turbulenter-markt-fuer-bio-basierte-polymere
- Koottungal, L. (2015): INTERNATIONAL SURVEY OF ETHYLENE FROM STEAM CRACKERS—2015. Oil&Gas Journal. https://www.ogj.com/content/dam/ogj/print-articles/volume-113/jul-6/International-survey-of-ethylene-from-steam-crackers--2015.pdf (12.06.2019)
- Linde (2020): Steamcracking technology. https://www.linde-engineering.com/en/processplants/petrochemical-plants/steam_cracking_technology/index.html (9.2.2020)
- LME (2020): Monthly Ferrous Updates. https://www.lme.com/Metals/Ferrous/Monthly-updates (15.12.2020)
- Lösch, O.; Gollmer, C.; Jochem, E.; Reitze, F.; Schön, M.; Toro Chacón, F. A. (2018): Klimaschutz durch Energieeffizienz II: Konzept zur Erhöhung der Energieeffizienz und Erschließung von Treibhausgas-Minderungspotentialen in den Sektoren. www.irees.de
- Lotus Engineering Inc. (2010). An Assessment of Mass Reduction Opportunities for a 2017-2020 Model Year Vehicle Program
- Manufactum. (2021). Rührschüssel Melaminharz. https://www.manufactum.de/ruehrschuessel-melaminharz-

a78962/?gclid=CjwKCAjwy42FBhB2EiwAJY0yQh7bWT0Sn8mh0lDsO_NQos0HGs8MnZ-eiwN9auZ74SZ4-inz5fN7_RoCPHUQAvD_BwE

- Marginean (2006): Competitiveness from microeconomic foundations to national determinants; Studies in Business and Economics 29; https://www.nber.org/system/files/working_papers/w18249/w18249.pdf
- Marsh, H.; Rodríguez-Reinoso, F. (2006): Production and Reference Material. Activated Carbon, p. 454–508. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-008044463-5/50023-6
- Matthes, F.; Heinemann, C.; Hesse, T.; Kasten, P.; Mendelevitch, R.; Seebach, D.; Timpe, C.; Cook, V. (2020): Wasserstoff sowie wasserstoffbasierte Energieträger und Rohstoffe - Eine Überblicksuntersuchung. Öko-Institut, Berlin.
- Maurer, P. (2013): Life Cycle-Analyse von Antriebsstrangkomponenten für den Verkehrssektor
- McGrath, T.; Basheer, M. P.; Nanukuttan, S.; Long A. E. (2012): Embodied Energy and Carbon Footprinting of Concrete Production and Use. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Teresa-Mcgrath/publication/289582539_Embodied_energy_and_carbon_footprinting_of_concrete_p roduction_and_use/links/57cd5a8308ae3ac722b7662e/Embodied-energy-and-carbonfootprinting-of-concrete-production-and-use.pdf
- Medarac, H.; Moya, J. A.; Somers, J. (2020): Production costs from iron and steel industry in the EU and third countries. https://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/handle/JRC100101 (12.11.2021)
- MEPS (2020): Steel Prices & Indices. https://www.meps.co.uk/gb/en/prices-and-indices (15.12.2020)
- Moya, J. A.; Boulamanti, A. (2016): Production costs from energy-intensive industries in the EU and third countries. https://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/handle/JRC100101 (12.11.2021)
- mpa (2015): Sustainable development report 2015
- mpa (2018): Sustainable development report 2018
- mpa (2019): Cement statistics ANNUAL. https://cement.mineralproducts.org/downloads/industry_statistics.php (23.03.2022)
- MPA The Concrete Center (2018): The Tenth Concrete Industry Sustainability Performance Report
- Nappi, C. (2013): The Global Aluminium Industry 40 years from 1972. World Aluminium. http://large.stanford.edu/courses/2016/ph240/mclaughlin1/docs/nappi.pdf (12.11.2021)
- Norsk Hydro (2013): Annual Report 2012. https://sec.report/otc/financial-report/100946 (12.11.2021)
- Notter, D. A.; Gauch, M.; Widmer, R.; Wäger, P.; Stamp, A.; Zah, R.; Althaus, H. J. (2010): Contribution of Li-ion batteries to the environmental impact of electric vehicles. Environmental Science and Technology, 44(17), 6550–6556. https://doi.org/10.1021/es903729a
- OECD (2019): Measuring distortions in international markets: the aluminium value chain. OECD Trade Policy Papers, No. 218, OECD Publishing, Paris. https://doi.org/10.1787/c82911ab-en
- OECD 10/2013: Aiginger, K.; Bärenthaler-Sieber, S.; Vogel, J. (2013): Competitiveness under New Perspectives. Working paper no 44, 10/2013 https://www.oecd.org/economy/Competitiveness-under-New-Perspectives.pdf

OECD: https://stats.oecd.org/glossary/detail.asp?ID=399

Öko-Institut, DIW (2016): EKI- Der Energiekostenindex für die deutsche Industrie, Jahresbericht 2016, Berlin, 04/2017. https://www.oeko.de/fileadmin/oekodoc/Energiekostenindikator-Industrie-EKI-Bericht.pdf

Oficemen (2015-2017): MEMORIA-Anual-Estadística

- Oficemen (2016): ANUARIO DEL SECTOR CEMENTERO ESPAÑOL, Madrid 2016
- Oil&Gas Journal (bought 2017): Refinery database, bought 2017
- OPTERRA (2015): Betonhandbuch
- Pardo, N.; Moya, J. A. (2011): Mercier A. Prospective on the energy efficiency and CO2 emissions in the EU cement industry. Energy, 36(5), p. 3244–3254
- Pauliuk, S.; Kondo, Y.; Nakamura, S.; Nakajima, K. (2017): Regional distribution and losses of endof-life steel throughout multiple product life cycles—Insights from the global multiregional MaTrace model; Resources, Conservation and Recycling, Vol 116, 01/2018, 84-93

Plastic Information Europe (2020): Preisreporte Westeuropa. https://www.kiweb.de/ (15.07.2020)

- Plastics (2013): Benchmarking Golf VII. https://www.plastics.gl/automotive/benchmarking-golf-vii/
- PlasticsEurope (2011): Plastics the Facts 2020. https://plasticseurope.org/de/wpcontent/uploads/sites/3/2021/11/2011-Plastics-the-facts.pdf
- PlasticsEurope (2020): Plastics the Facts 2020. plasticseurope.org
- Plastics Europe (2021): Plastics the Facts 2021. https://plasticseurope.org/knowledgehub/plastics-the-facts-2021/
- PlasticsEurope. (2021): Arten von Kunststoffen. https://www.plasticseurope.org/de/aboutplastics/what-are-plastics/large-family
- PlasticsEurope (2022): Plastics- the Facts 2022 https://plasticseurope.org/knowledge-hub/plastics-the-facts-2022/
- Plastics Today (2020): Six trends impacting the global automotive plastics marekt in the new decace. 01/2020. https://www.ceresana.com/de/marktstudien/mobilitaet/kunststoffe-im-automobil-welt/
- Porter, M.E. (2004): Building the Microeconomic Foundations of Prosperity: Findings from the Bussiness Competitiveness Index. Porter, M.E. et al. (eds), Global Competitiveness Report 2003-2004 of the World Economic Forum
- Porter, M. E. (1990): The competitive advantage of nations. London: Macmillan
- Rahman, A.; Rasul, M. G.; Khan, M.M.K.; Sharma, S. (2013): Impact of Alternative Fuels on the Cement Manufacturing Plant Performance. An Overview. Procedia Engineering 56, p. 393– 400. DOI: 10.1016/j.proeng.2013.03.138.
- Rehfeldt, M.; Fleiter, T.; Toro, F. (2017): A bottom-up estimation of the heating and cooling demand in European industry. Energy Efficiency 11 (5), p. 1057–1082. DOI: 10.1007/s12053-017-9571-y
- Reinaud, J. (2005), Industrial Competitiveness under the European Union Emissions Trading Scheme, IEA Information Paper, Paris.
- Ren, T.; Patel, M.; Blok, K. (2006): Olefins from Conventional and Heavy Feedstocks: Energy. Use in Steam Cracking and Alternative Processes. Energy 31 (2006), p. 425–451

- Renda, A. (2013): Assessment of cumulative cost impact for the steel industry. CEPS. Brussels. https://www.ceps.eu/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/steel-cum-cost-imp_en.pdf (13.06.2019)
- Repenning, J., Harthan, R., Blanck, R., Braungardt, S., Bürger, V., Emele, L., Görz, W. K., Hennenberg, K., Jörß, W., Matthes, F. C., Mendelevitch, R., Schumacher, K., Wiegmann, K., Wissner, N., Zerrahn, A., Schlomann, B., Yu, S., Osterburg, B., Rösemann, C., Deurer, J. (2021):
 Projektionsbericht 2021 für Deutschland
- Robinson (2007): Petroleum Processing Overview. Practical Advances in Petroleum Processing, Springer (2006). https://www.researchgate.net/publication/226038766_Petroleum_Processing_Overview (12.11.2021)

Römpp (2019): Chemisches Lexikon. https://roempp.thieme.de/ (12.11.2021)

- Rosenhagen, T.; Höbelmann, A. (2020): Recycling von Aluminium-Getränkedosen in einem vollintrgrierten Aluminiumrecyclingwerk. Recycling und Sekundärrohstoffe, 13. https://www.vivis.de/wp-content/uploads/RuR13/2020_RuR_308-323_Rosenhagen.pdf (12.11.2021)
- Rossen, J. E. (n.n.): Composition and morphology of C-A-S-H in pastes of alite and cement blended with supplementary cementitious materials
- Ruppert J. et al. (2020): Prozesskettenorientierte Ermittlung der Material- und Energieeffizienzpotentiale in der Zementindustrie (n.n.). UFOPLAN FKZ 3716 36 320 0 -11/2018
- Sato, F. E. K.; Nakata, T. (2020): Energy consumption analysis for vehicle production through a material flow approach. Energies, 13(9). https://doi.org/10.3390/en13092396
- Saulles, T. (2013): Concrete's green credentials boosted by carbonation study. Civil Engineering
- Sauvage, J. (2019): Measuring distortions in international markets The aluminium value chain. OECD.

https://www.oecd.org/officialdocuments/publicdisplaydocumentpdf/?cote=TAD/TC(2018)5/ FINAL&docLanguage=En (12.11.2021)

- Schau, E. M., Traverso, M., Finkbeiner, M. (2012). Life cycle approach to sustainability assessment: a case study of remanufactured alternators. In Journal of Remanufacturing (Bd. 2). https://doi.org/10.1186/2210-4690-2-5
- Schumpeter, J. A. (1997): Theorie der wirtschaftlichen Entwicklung. Eine Untersuchung über Unternehmergewinn, Kapital, Kredit, Zins und den Konjunkturzyklus. 9. Auflage, unveränderter Nachdruck der 4. Auflage 1934, Duncker und Humblot, Berlin
- Schweimer, G.; Levin, M. (2000): Sachbilanz des Golf A4. Forschung, 1-40
- Shanks, W.; Dunant, C. F.; Drewniok, Michał P.; Lupton, R. C.; Serrenho, A.; Allwood, Julian M. (2019): How much cement can we do without? Lessons from cement material flows in the UK. Resources, Conservation and Recycling 141, S. 441–454.
 DOI: 10.1016/j.resconrec.2018.11.002
- spc (2015-2017): 2021 INFORMATOR SPC Przemysł Cementowy w liczbach. https://www.polskicement.pl/informatory/ (23.03.2022)
- Statista. (2021): EU-28: steel demand breakdown by industry | Statista. https://www.statista.com/statistics/640516/steel-usage-industry-sectors-eu28/
- Steelonthenet (2020a): Basic Oxygen Furnace Route Steelmaking Costs 2020. https://www.steelonthenet.com/cost-bof.html (15.12.2020)
- Steelonthenet (2020b): Electric Arc Furnace Steelmaking Costs 2020. https://www.steelonthenet.com/cost-eaf.html (15.12.2020)
- Steelonthenet (2020c): Price of Steel. https://www.steelonthenet.com/steel-prices.html (15.12.2020)
- Swedish Life Cycle Center. (o. J.). Center for Environmental Assessment of Product and Material Systems. http://cpmdatabase.cpm.chalmers.se/Start.asp%0A
- Sybertz, F.; Thielen, G. (n.n.): Die europäische Zementnorm und ihre Auswirkungen in Deutschland. https://trid.trb.org/view/950935 (12.11.2021)
- The Boston Consulting Group (2013): Steel's Contribution to a low carbon Europe 2050. Boston Consulting Group, Stahlinstitut VDEh.

https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&ved=2ahUKEwj Mwu_q4ePiAhUkNOwKHVWRCc8QFjAAegQIARAB&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.stahlonline.de%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2013%2F09%2FSchlussbericht-Studie-Lowcarbon-Europe-2050_-Mai-20131.pdf&usg=AOvVaw3aUibxE758rMhC975QMLWR (12.06.2019)

- Toro, F. A. (2020): Material and resource efficiency potentials in the aluminum industry prospects for increased circular economy and decarbonisation. eceee industry, 2020. https://www.eceee.org/library/conference_proceedings/eceee_Industrial_Summer_Study/20 20/2-sustainable-production-towards-a-circular-economy/material-and-resourceefficiency-potentials-in-the-aluminum-industry-prospects-for-increased-circular-economyand-decarbonisation/ (12.11.2021)
- Trading Economics (2022): EU Carbon Permits, 2005-2022 Historical. https://tradingeconomics.com/commodity/carbon
- UBA (2016): CO2 Emission Factors for Fossil Fuels
- UBA (2024): Identification, analysis and presentation of the products in the industrial sectors covered by the EU ETS, their economic importance and their significance for CO₂ emissions, Project No. (FKZ) 3718420040, contributors: Andrea Herbst, Matthias Rehfeldt, Meta Thurid Lotz, Frank Marscheider-Weidemann, Fraunhofer ISI, Karlsruhe; Felipe Toro, Oliver Lösch, Jana Deurer, IREES GmbH, Karlsruhe, 2024
- UN (2020): Comtrade. https://www.comtrade.un.org/data/ (15.12.2020)
- UNSD (n.n.): Correspondence Tables. https://unstats.un.org/unsd/trade/classifications/correspondence-tables.asp (15.12.2020)
- Van Der Velden, N. M.; Patel, M. K.; Vogtländer, J. G. (2012): LCA benchmarking study on textiles made of cotton, polyester, nylon, acryl, or elastane. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-013-0626-9
- van Ruijven, B. J.; van Vuuren, D. P.; Boskaljon, W.; Neelis, M. L.; Saygin, D.; Patel, M. K. (2016): Long-term model-based projections of energy use and CO2 emissions from the global steel and cement industries. Resources, Conservation and Recycling 112, p. 15–36. DOI: 10.1016/j.resconrec.2016.04.016
- VCI (2018): Primärchemikalienerfassung, personal communication (26.07.2018)

- VDA. (2021). Automobilproduktion Zahlen zur Automobilproduktion im In- und Ausland. https://www.vda.de/de/services/zahlen-und-daten/jahreszahlen/automobilproduktion.html
- VDI Nachrichten (2021): Beitrag am 10/2021. https://www.vdi-nachrichten.com/technik/automobil/wasserstoff-bmw-kauft-gruenenstahl-aus-schweden/
- VDZ (2002): Zement-Taschenbuch (28.05.2019)
- VDZ (2018): Zahlen und Daten
- VDZ (2020): Zementindustrie im Überblick
- Vlados, Chatzinikolaou, (2020): Macro-meso and micro policies for stregthening entrepreneurship: towards an integrated competitivness policy; Journal of Buisness & Economic Policy, Vol 7, No 1, 2020, https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3563453
- Volkswagen. (2019). Umwelterklärung Standort Wolfsburg
- WBCSD World Business Council for Sustainable Development (n.n.): GNR project: Cement Sustainability Initiative. https://www.wbcsdcement.org/index.html (26.08.2019)
- WEF (Hg.) (2012): The Global Competitiveness Report 2012-2013. Unter Mitarbeit von Klaus Schwab. World Economic Forum (WEF). Geneva, Switzerland: World Economic Forum
- Weiß, P. (2016): Energieeffizienz und Abwärmenutzung in der Kunststoffverarbeitung
- Wieselhuber & Partner GmbH (2016): Ed. Gustl F. Thum: Competitiveness of European Plastics Converting Industry. A European Industry Study. Munich, Germany
- Wiesinger, J. (2021): Reifenaufbau. https://www.kfztech.de/kfztechnik/fahrwerk/reifen/reifenaufbau.html
- WMS (2017): World Metal Statistics Yearbook
- Worrell, E.; Galitsky, C. (2004): Profile of the Petroleum Refining Industry in California. California Industries of the Future Program. Ernest Orlando Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory
- Worsfold, P.; Townshend, A.; Poole, C. (2005): Encyclopedia of Analytical Science. https://www.sciencedirect.com/referencework/9780123693976/encyclopedia-of-analytical-science
- WSA (2018): Steel Statistical Yearbook 2018
- WSA (2019): Fact Sheet: Steel and raw materials
- WSA (2020): Steel Statistical Yearbook 2020
- WSA (2020a): Top steelmakers. https://worldsteel.org/wp-content/uploads/Top-steelmakers-2020.pdf
- WSA (2023): Steel Statistical Yearbook 2022
- Wünschmann, S. (2018): Gebäudestrukturen und deren Einfluss auf die ökologische Lebenszyklusqualität: Analyse von gebäudebezogenen LCA-Daten im Zusammenhang mit konstruktiven Gebäudestrukturen als Optimierungsgrundlage in frühen Planungsphasen. Dissertation, Hamburg
- Wurzer, A. (2016). Bewertung möglicher gesetzlicher Lenkungseffekte auf Basis gesamtheitlicher Lebenszyklusanalysen im Verkehrssektor
- WV Stahl (2016): Fakten zur Stahlindustrie in Deutschland 2016

WV Stahl; VDEh (2016): Statistisches Jahrbuch der Stahlindustrie 2016/2017

- Wyns, T.; Khandekar, G. (2019): Metal for a Climate Neutral Europe, Executive Summary. Institute for European Studies, Brije Universiteit Brussel. https://www.eurometaux.eu/media/1997/exec-summary-metals-2050.pdf (12.11.2021)
- Zweifel, P.; Heller, H. R. (1997): Internationaler Handel. Theorie und Empirie. 3. Aufl. Heidelberg: Physica-Verlag

7 List of figures

Figure 1:	Value chain of automobile production	5
Figure 2:	Production and use of hot rolled coil, Germany	15
Figure 3:	Routes to the market	15
Figure 4:	Regional prices of hot rolled coil, sheet and strip	18
Figure 5:	Number of basic iron and steel and of ferro-alloys manufacturers in Germany and EU (28) over time	21
Figure 6:	Overview on turnover of the steel sector over time in Germany and the EU	22
Figure 7:	Cost shares of hot rolled coil manufacturing and prices	27
Figure 8:	Import volumes and values (price base 2008) of hot rolled coil, Germany and EU	28
Figure 9:	Apparent Steel Use (ASU) and imports in Germany, [t]	28
Figure 10:	Export volumes in t and values in Euro _(nominal) /t of hot rolled coil, Germany and EU	29
Figure 11:	Focus of the analysis in the plastics industry	
Figure 12:	European plastics converters: demand by application and type 2021	31
Figure 13:	Foreign trade in plastics for Germany and the EU	34
Figure 14:	Imports and exports of plastics products and selected primary plastics	35
Figure 15:	Export and import values of EU 2015	
Figure 16:	Change in primary plastics production in Germany by type of plastics (¹ e.g. PET, ABS, ASA, SAN, PMMA, PC und POM; ² e.g. PUR; PE)	
Figure 17:	Number of manufactures in primary plastics and plastics products	41
Figure 18:	Changes in sales of the primary plastics producers	43
Figure 19:	Prices of PE and PP pellets and costs by input	47
Figure 20:	Import values and quantities.	48
Figure 21:	Import quantity and values over time	48
Figure 22:	Registrations of cars in Germany	49
Figure 23:	Registrations of cars in Germany	50
Figure 24:	Registrations of electric cars in Germany	50
Figure 25:	CO₂ cost shares in a BEV (€100/tCO₂eq)	51
Figure 26:	Potential price pass-through of hot rolled coils (BOF)	56
Figure 27:	Potential price pass-through of primary plastics	58
Figure 28:	Potential cost coverage of CO ₂ costs – upper and lower price range	60

8 List of tables

Table 1:	Indicators displaying competition	
Table 2:	Market structure indicators - supplier side	9
Table 3:	Indicators outlining the business environment	
Table 4:	Overview on product features	
Table 5:	Overview on used product classes - HRC	
Table 6:	Overview on indicators of competition in HRC	14
Table 7:	Deliveries of steel products by industrial customers, Germany	
Table 8:	Overview on indicators of market structures of HRC	
Table 9:	Overview of top crude steel producers (2020)	
Table 10:	Overview on indicators of the business environment of HR	23
Table 11:	Overview on product features of HRC	
Table 12:	Overview on used product classes - PE and PP	
Table 13:	Overview on indicators of competition in PE and PP	
Table 14:	Cracker Capacity in Germany in 2015	
Table 15:	Overview on indicators of market structures in PE and PP	
Table 16:	World Plastic Production and European Plastic Production (NACE 20.16) [million tonnes]	
Table 17:	Price changes over time (2020 - 2022)	42
Table 18:	Overview on indicators of the business environment in PE and PP	44
Table 19:	Overview on indicators of selected product features in PE and PP	46
Table 20:	Energy demand by productive phase and energy source for battery electric vehicle	

List of Abbreviations

Abbreviation	Description
ABS	AcryInitril-Butadien-Styrol-Copolymer
AP	Arbeitspaket
BEV	Battery electric vehicle
BF	Blast furnace
BOF	Basic oxygen furnace
C.II/ C.III	Complexity I/ complexity III
C ₂ F ₆	Hexafluoroethane
CaCO ₃	Calcium carbonate
CAEF	The European Foundry Association
CAPEX	Capital expenditures
CDU	Crude distillation units
CEM (I, II, III, V)	Cement types based on DIN EN 197-1
CF ₄	Carbon tetrafluoride
CH ₄	Methane
СНР	Combined heat and power
CO ₂	Carbon dioxide
CO ₂ eq	Carbon dioxide emission equivalent
COP	Conference of the Parties
CRF	Cold rolled flat
CSV	Comma-separated values
CWT	Complexity weighted tonne
BEV	Battery electric vehicle
EAF	Electric arc furnace
EEA	European Environment Agency
EFTA	European Free Trade Association
el index	Electricity price index
EU	European Union
EU Alumin.	European Aluminium
EU ETS	EU Emissions Trading Scheme
EU28	Member states of the European Union (2015)
EUA	European Union Allowance
EUSTAT	European Statistics
EUTL	EU Transaction Log
FCCU	Fluid catalytic cracking unit
FED	Final energy demand
F-gases	Fluorinated greenhouse gases
FTIP	Federal Transport Infrastructure Plan

Abbreviation	Description									
GDA	Gestamverband der Aluminiumindustrie									
GGBS	Ground-granulated blast furnace slag									
GHG	Greenhouse gas									
GHG	Greenhouse gas									
GJ	Gigajoule									
H ₂	Hydrogen									
HCU	Hydrocracker									
HDPE	High density polyethylene									
HE	High efficiency									
HGV	Heavy goods vehicle									
HRC	Hot rolled coil									
HRWS	Hot rolled wide strip									
HS	Harmonised system									
HVC	High value chemicals									
ICAO	International Civil Aviation Organization									
ICEV	Internal combustion engine vehicle									
IMO	International Maritime Organization									
ISIC	International standard industrial classification									
Kg	Kilograms									
KSBV	UBA study Klimaschutzbeitrag des Verkehrs bis 2050 [UBA, 2016a]									
Kt	Kilotons									
kWh	Kilowatt hours									
LCA	Life cycle analysis									
LDPE	Low density polyethylene									
LE	Low efficiency									
LHV	Lower heating value									
LLDPW	Linear low density polyethylene									
LPG	Liquefied petroleum gas									
MFA	Material flow analysis									
MFCA	Material Flow Cost Accounting									
MJ	Megajoule									
Mm	Millimetres									
Mt	Megatonnes									
MWh	Megawatt hours									
N ₂ O	Nitrous oxide									
NACE	Nomenclature statistique des activités économiques dans la Communauté européenne									
NDC	Nationally Determined Contributions (in Paris-Agreement)									
NEDC	New European Driving Cycle									
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development									

Abbreviation	Description
OPEX	Operational expenditures
PA	Polyamid
PC	Polycarbonate
PDF	Portable document format
PE	Polyethylene
PJ	Petajoule (energy measuring unit)
PKW	Personenkraftwagen
PP	Polypropylene
PPI	Producer price index
PtG	Power-to-Gas (any power-based gaseous fuels)
PtL	Power-to-Liquid (any power-based liquid fuels)
PU	Polyurethane
PVC	Polyvinylchloride
RCA	Revealed Comparative Advantage
RDE	Real Driving Emissions
RES	Renewable energy sources
REV	Revision
SEC	Specific Energy Consumption
SGHG	Specific greenhouse gas emissions
SITC	Standard international trade classification
Т	Tonnes
THG	Treibhausgasemissionen
TJ	Terrajoule
TWh	Terawatt hours (measuring units for energy)
UN	United Nations
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
VCI	Verband der Chemischen Industrie
VDeH	Verein Deutscher Eisenhüttenleute
VDU	Vacuum distillation unit
VDZ	Verein Deutscher Zementwerke e.V.
VET	Verified emissions tables
WLTP	Worldwide Harmonized Light-Duty Vehicles Test Procedure
WMS	World Metal Statistics
WSA	World Steel Association
WV Stahl	Wirtschaftsvereinigung Stahl

A.1 Energy balance of battery electric vehicle

Table 20:Energy demand by productive phase and energy source for battery electric vehicle

Material/ Product	BEV Weight [kg]		Energy demand by process [MJ]	Energy demand by source [MJ]						Energy Energy demand by process [MJ]		y demand by source [MJ]			
		Total energy demand [MJ]	Raw material	Electricity	Coal	Coke	Natural gas	Oil	Other gases	Part production	Electricity	Coal	Natural gas	Oil	
PA/Nylon	18.15	1,190	23	13			10			1,167	1,124		44		
РР	75.67	1,718	1,491	151			91	1,249		227	227				
PE	20.25	527	385	55				330		142	142				
PU	43.18	2,754	2,754	907			1,209	639							
PC	3.11	149	140	22			118			9	9				
PVC	13.11	538	511	39			472			26	26				
ABS	37.25	2,049	1,937	149	74		1,713			112	112				
Rubber	23.26	1,106	929	9			460	460		177	55		122		
Copper wire	16.13	418	370	122	61		161	26		48	32	0		16	
Steel	528.31	0													

Hot rolled coils (preassembly)	316.92	6,634	6,634	444	1,317	3,036	755	36	1,047					
Hot rolled coils	54.03	1,442	1,131	76	224	518	129	6	178	311	65	246		
Hot rolled bars machining	134.89	615	530	366	70	70	24			85	85	0		
Hot rolled bars forging	22.48	1,027	88	61	12	12	4			939	31	908		
Aluminium	302.64	0	0											
Stamping (preassembly)	63.80	132	132	71			58	2						
Casting	183.73	2,146	2,146	860			1,235	51						
Extrusions	55.12	242	242	18			215	9						
Flat glass	32.40	705	144	0	137		0	7		561	92	0	469	0
Zinc	15.81	270	270	250			21							
Copper	45.57	1,458	1,458		456		866	137						
Graphite	34.41	2,890	2,890		1,445		344	1,101						
LiMnO	35.45	1,312	1,312		213		886	213						
Ethylene carbonate	28.29	255	255				170	85						